REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

Form Approved OMB NO. 0704-0188

regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including su Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Day Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subj of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS.	uggesstions for reducing this burden, to Washington ris Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington VA, 22202-4302. ject to any oenalty for failing to comply with a collection		
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY) 2. REPORT TYPE	3. DATES COVERED (From - To)		
25-08-2015 Final Report	15-Dec-2012 - 14-Jun-2015		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE 5a CON	TRACT NUMBER		
Final Report: Who and How: Comprehensive RNA-based W911N	Ja. CONTRACT NUMBER		
BodyfluID Assay to Provide Context to a Recovered DNA	5h GRANT NUMBER		
Profile	S. GRANT HOWDER		
5c. PROC	5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHORS 5d PROJ	ECT NUMBER		
Jack Ballantyne, Erin Hanson			
5e. TASK	5e. TASK NUMBER		
5f. WOR	K UNIT NUMBER		
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAMES AND ADDRESSES8University of Central FloridaN12201 Research Parkway, Suite 5019	. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT IUMBER		
Orlando FL 32826 - 3246			
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS [10 (ES)). SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) ARO		
S. Army Research Office 11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)			
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-2211 61	61984-LS-FRD.1		
12 DISTRIBUTION AVAILIBILITY STATEMENT			
Approved for Public Release: Distribution Unlimited			
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES The views, opinions and/or findings contained in this report are those of the author(s) and of the Army position, policy or decision, unless so designated by other documentation.	should not contrued as an official Department		
14. ABSTRACT This report is the final technical report and summarizes the work performed	for the full project period.		
15. SUBJECT TERMS final report			
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: 17. LIMITATION OF 15. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON		
a. REPORT b. ABSTRACT c. THIS PAGE ABSTRACT OF PAGES	Jack Ballantyne		
	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-823-4041		

Report Title

Final Report: Who and How: Comprehensive RNA-based BodyfluID Assay to Provide Context to a Recovered DNA Profile

ABSTRACT

This report is the final technical report and summarizes the work performed for the full project period.

Enter List of papers submitted or published that acknowledge ARO support from the start of the project to the date of this printing. List the papers, including journal references, in the following categories:

(a) Papers published in peer-reviewed journals (N/A for none)

Received Paper

TOTAL:

Number of Papers published in peer-reviewed journals:

Paper

(b) Papers published in non-peer-reviewed journals (N/A for none)

Received

TOTAL:

Number of Papers published in non peer-reviewed journals:

(c) Presentations

	Non Peer-Reviewed Conference Proceeding publications (other than abstracts):
Received	Paper
TOTAL:	
Number of Non	Peer-Reviewed Conference Proceeding publications (other than abstracts):
	Peer-Reviewed Conference Proceeding publications (other than abstracts):
Received	Paper
TOTAL:	
Number of Peer	-Reviewed Conference Proceeding publications (other than abstracts):
	(d) Manuscripts
Received	<u>Paper</u>
TOTAL:	

		Books	
Received	<u>Book</u>		
TOTAL:			
Received	Book Chapter		
TOTAL:			
		Patonte Submitted	
		Tatents Submitted	
		Patents Awarded	
		Awards	
		FERGENI_JUPPORTED	
Total Nu	mber:		
		Names of Post Doctorates	
NAME		PERCENT_SUPPORTED	
FTE Equ Total Nu	ivalent: mber:		

Names of Faculty Supported

NAME	PERCENT_SUPPORTED	National Academy Member
Erin Hanson	0.33	
FTE Equivalent:	0.33	
Total Number:	1	

Names of Under Graduate students supported

NAME

PERCENT_SUPPORTED

FTE Equivalent: Total Number:

Student Metrics

This section only applies to graduating undergraduates supported by this agreement in this reporting period
The number of undergraduates funded by this agreement who graduated during this period: 0.00 The number of undergraduates funded by this agreement who graduated during this period with a degree in science, mathematics, engineering, or technology fields: 0.00
The number of undergraduates funded by your agreement who graduated during this period and will continue to pursue a graduate or Ph.D. degree in science, mathematics, engineering, or technology fields: 0.00
Number of graduating undergraduates who achieved a 3.5 GPA to 4.0 (4.0 max scale): 0.00 Number of graduating undergraduates funded by a DoD funded Center of Excellence grant for Education, Research and Engineering: 0.00
The number of undergraduates funded by your agreement who graduated during this period and intend to work for the Department of Defense 0.00
The number of undergraduates funded by your agreement who graduated during this period and will receive scholarships or fellowships for further studies in science, mathematics, engineering or technology fields: 0.00

Names of Personnel receiving masters degrees

<u>NAME</u>

Total Number:

Names of personnel receiving PHDs

<u>NAME</u>

Total Number:

Names of other research staff

NAME

PERCENT_SUPPORTED

FTE Equivalent: Total Number:

Sub Contractors (DD882)

Scientific Progress

See attachment

Technology Transfer

Technology transfer conducted on the following dates at the DFSC laboratory: March 23-24th, 2015 and May 19th, 2015.



Biological Evidence

National Center for Forensic Science University of Central Florida P.O. Box 162367 • Orlando, FL 32826 Phone: 407.823.4041 Fax: 407.823.4042 Web site: http://www.ncfs.org/

Who and How: Comprehensive RNA-Based BodyFluID Assay to Provide Context to a Recovered RNA Profile

FINAL REPORT

August 25, 2015

Department of Defense, National Institute of justice ARO Agreement Number: W911NF-12-2-0055 (1 September 2012 – 14 June 2015)

Principal Investigator: Jack Ballantyne, PhD Professor Department of Chemistry Associate Director for Research National Center for Forensic Science P.O. Box 162367 Orlando, FL 32816-2366 Phone: (407) 823 4440 Fax: (407) 823 4042 e-mail: Jack.Ballantyne@ucf.edu

FOREWARD

Current body fluid identification methods use a variety of labor intensive and technologically diverse techniques that do not permit the identification of all frequently encountered body fluids such as saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood or skin [1]. Proper identification of the biological material present might be crucial to the investigation and prosecution of a criminal offense and a misrepresentation of the nature of the evidence can have undue influence on the perception of the circumstance of the crime. Therefore it is critical that novel strategies for the conclusive identification of forensically relevant biological fluids be developed. One such approach is the use of mRNA profiling. Terminally differentiated cells, whether they comprise blood monocytes or lymphocytes, ejaculated spermatozoa, epithelial cells lining the oral cavity or epidermal cells from the skin become such during a developmentally regulated program in which certain genes are turned off (i.e. are transcriptionally silent) and others are turned on (i.e. are actively transcribed and translated into protein) [2]. This produces a pattern of gene expression that is unique to each cell type not only evidenced by the specific mRNAs present but also their relative abundance. Thus if it was possible to determine the type and abundance of mRNAs in a stain or tissue sample recovered at the crime scene it would be possible to definitively identify the tissue or body fluids present. Such an approach would offer a number of advantages over conventional methods for body fluid identification including: (i) the ability to perform parallel tests for numerous markers of a single body fluid in a single assay format, (ii) the ability to perform parallel tests for different body fluids in a single assay format, (iii) a definitive identification of body fluids for which presently no specific tests exist. Numerous studies have been reported in current forensic literature to support the use of an RNA profiling approach for identification of forensically relevant body fluids and tissues in routine casework [3-24].

In addition to the ability to conclusively identify all forensically relevant biological fluids, it would be desirable, if not critical, for the developed mRNA body fluid identification system to be seamlessly compatible with current DNA typing technology. Without the development of compatible DNA and RNA isolation methods, separate samplings of biological stains would need to be taken. In the case of heterogeneous mixtures of different body fluids, separate sampling of these mixed stains from different "geographical" locations of the stains to isolate DNA and RNA could result in a misleading estimate of the ratio of the body fluids present and, in extreme cases, even fail to detect one of the contributors. The simultaneous analysis of DNA and RNA should permit not only the identification of the donor of the stain, but also provide an indication of what kind of activity may have led to the deposition of the DNA.

The aims of the current work were to custom-develop for DFSC casework use: (i) a DNA/RNA co-extraction isolation protocol suitable for dried biological evidence material (including trace amounts); (ii) a highly specific and robust mRNA body fluid multiplex system that permits the simultaneous identification of all forensically relevant biological fluids and tissues (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin) in a single assay. Based upon our prior experience with DNA/RNA co-isolation methods, we re-evaluated the most promising in terms of the quantity and quality of the nucleic acids recovered and developed a highly robust, semi-automated DNA/RNA co-isolation method for casework operational use. Using highly specific gene candidates for the identification of forensically relevant biological fluids and tissues, custom capillary electrophoresis (CE) and high resolution meth (HRM) assays

were developed and fully validated. The results of this study demonstrate the high sensitivity and specificity of the developed BodyfluID assays and their suitability for use in operational casework for the identification of forensically relevant body fluids and tissues.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWARD
I. LIST OF TABLES
II. LIST OF FIGURES
III. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM
IV. RESULTS
A. Development of an optimized DNA/RNA Co-Isolation Method9
B. Development of the 10-plex Capillary Electrophoresis Multiplex System
C. Development of the Multiplex High Resolution Melt (HRM) Assays 11
D. Developmental Validation of the CE and HRM Assays
1. Sensitivity
2. Specificity
3. Species Specificity
4. Stability
5. Mixtures
6. Case Type Samples
7. Precision and Accuracy
E. Differential DNA/RNA Co-Extraction
V. CONCLUSIONS
VI. BIBLIOGRAPHY
VII. TABLES
VIII. FIGURES

I. LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.Primer Sequences (top) and Primer Mix Composition (bottom) for the CE 10-plex assay
Table 2.Primer Sequences (Top) and Primer Mix Composition (Bottom) for the Blood-Menstrual
Blood HRM Assay
Table 3. Primer Sequences (Top) and Primer Mix Composition (Bottom) for the Sexual Assault
HRM Assay
Table 4. Primer Sequences (Top) and Primer Mix Composition (Bottom) for the Hexaplex HRM
Assay
Table 5. CE 10-plex Sensitivity 30
Table 6. Blood-Menstrual Blood and Sexual Assault HRM Multiplex Sensitivity
Table 7. Hexaplex HRM Assay Sensitivity 32
Table 8. Comparison of Biomarker Sensitivity within Each Multiplex Assay
Table 9. Specificity - CE 10-plex and HRM Multiplex Assays 33
Table 10. Tissue Specificity – CE 10-plex Multiplex
Table 11. Tissue Specificity, Additional Donors – CE 10-plex Multiplex
Table 12.Tissue Specificity – Blood Menstrual Blood HRM Assay 35
Table 13. Tissue Specificity – Sexual Assault HRM Assay
Table 14. Tissue Specificity – Hexaplex HRM Assay 37
Table 15.Species Specificity (Blood) – CE 10-plex Multiplex
Table 16. Species Specificity (Blood) – Additional cat and ferret samples
Table 17. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Blood 40
Table 18. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Semen
Table 19. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Saliva
Table 20. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Vaginal secretions 43
Table 21. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Additional Samples 44
Table 22.Detection of Vaginal Secretions in Female Reproductive Cycles - CE 10plex
Table 23. Detection of Menstrual Blood in Female Reproductive Cycles (Menstruating Females)
- Blood Menstrual Blood HRM

Table 24. Detection of Vaginal Secretions in Female Reproductive Cycles - Sexual Assault HRM
Table 25. Detection of Body Fluids in Two Fluid Admixtures (CE-10plex)48
Table 26. Analysis of Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid Samples (Blood-Menstrual Blood HRM
Assay)
Table 27. Analysis of Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid Samples (Sexual Assault HRM Assay) 50
Table 28.Detection of Body Fluids in Two Fluid Admixtures (Hexplex HRM Assay)
Table 29. Detection of Body Fluids in Vaginal-Semen Admixed Samples52
Table 30. Identification of Skin in Touch DNA Samples (CE 10-plex)
Table 31. DNA and RNA Analysis of 100 Touch DNA Samples
Table 32. Summary of the EDNAP Collaborative Studies on RNA Profiling Assays for Body
Fluid Identification
Table 33.Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples – CE
10-plex
Table 34. Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples –
Blood-Menstrual Blood Assay
Table 35. Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples –
Sexual Assault HRM Assay
Table 36. Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples –
Hexaplex HRM Assay
Table 37. CE 10-plex Assay Reproducibility 60
Table 38. HRM Assay Reproducibility 61

II. LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. QIACube Rotor Adaptor Set-Up For AllPrep DNA/RNA Co-Extraction	62
Figure 2. Workflow Summary for the RNA BodyfluID Assays	63
Figure 3. CE 10-plex multiplex.	64
Figure 4. Representative Electropherograms for Body Fluids and Tissues Using the CE	10-plex.
	65
Figure 5. DNA Amplification Products in the CE 10-plex	66
Figure 6. Blood-Menstrual Blood HRM Assay	67
Figure 7. Sexual Assault ('Sex-Plex') HRM Assay	67
Figure 8. Hexaplex HRM Assay	68
Figure 9. Sensitivity of the Blood Biomarkers in the CE 10-plex	69
Figure 10. Sensitivity of the Blood-Menstrual Blood and Sexual Assault HRM Assays	
Figure 11. Sensitivity of the Hexaplex HRM Assay	71
Figure 12. RNA Expression Profile for Nasal Secretions (CE)	
Figure 13. Detection of Body Fluid Components in a Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid	l Sample
(CE 10-plex)	73
Figure 14. Detection of Body Fluid Components in an Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid	I Sample
(Sexual Assault HRM)	74
Figure 15. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Simulated Vaginal-Semen Mixture (Example 1)	75
Figure 16. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Simulated Vaginal-Semen Mixture (Example 2)	
Figure 17. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Differentially Co-Extracted Vaginal-Semen	Mixture
(Example 1)	77
Figure 18. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Differentially Co-Extracted Vaginal-Semen	Mixture
(Example 2)	

III. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

Increasingly, conventional methods for body fluid identification are being supplanted by the facile and routine identification of human DNA in the sample. Proponents of this approach argue that the presence of human DNA from a particular individual is sufficient for most purposes and that the cell type from which the DNA originated is inconsequential or that present methods are non-specific. While the ability to bypass conventional body fluid identification tests is appealing due to a perceived increase in operational efficiency, there are a number of case scenarios where body fluid identification per se would provide important probative evidence. For example, consider a sexual assault on a female victim with an object (recovered from the suspect) where the victim's DNA is recovered from the object. He could claim that the victim handled the item during a casual encounter and this explains why her DNA was present. However, the significance of this evidence would increase if the DNA could be shown to originate from vaginal cells, a circumstance that would be consistent with a sexual encounter but not with casual handling. Currently there are no routinely used means by which to distinguish the presence of vaginal secretions or skin. Therefore, the inability to conclusively identify the context in which a recovered DNA profile was deposited may allow perpetrators to exploit the uncertainty of the origin of this evidence.

Therefore, in the current work we leveraged our extensive knowledge of body-fluid specific biomarkers [25-28], multiplex [7,16,17] and DNA/RNA co-isolation strategies [25,27] to develop a custom-built, casework-ready body fluid identification system that is compatible with the DFSC DNA analysis pipeline. Specifically, the aims of the current work were to custom-develop for DFSC casework use: (i) a DNA/RNA co-extraction isolation protocol suitable for dried biological evidence material (including trace amounts); (ii) a highly specific and sensitive mRNA body fluid multiplex system that permits the simultaneous identification of all forensically relevant biological fluids (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin) in a single CE-based assay (which we term for convenience 'BodyfluID'). During the course of this project, we also developed three highly sensitive and specific high resolution (HRM) melt assays: 1) blood-menstrual blood assay, 2) sexual assault (identification of semen, saliva and vaginal secretions) and 3) a comprehensive hexaplex assay (identification of blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions) and 3) a comprehensive hexaplex assay (identification of blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions) and 3) a comprehensive hexaplex assay (identification of blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions) and 3) a comprehensive hexaplex assay (identification of blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions) and 3) a comprehensive hexaplex assay (identification of blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions) menstrual blood and skin).

IV. RESULTS

A. Development of an optimized DNA/RNA Co-Isolation Method

The first aim of the current work was to develop a DNA/RNA co-extraction protocol suitable for dried biological evidence material. The development of a DNA/RNA co-extraction method was intended to be useful in cases of heterogeneous mixtures of different body fluids. Separate sampling of these mixed stains from different "geographical" locations of the stains to isolate DNA and RNA could result in a misleading estimate of the ratio of the body fluids present and, in extreme cases, even fail to detect one of the contributors. The simultaneous analysis of DNA and RNA should permit not only the identification of the donor of the stain, but also provide an indication of what kind of activity may have led to the deposition of the DNA. A DNA/RNA co-extraction approach also serves to reduce sample consumption since separate samplings of biological stains would not need to be taken.

We have extensive experience with DNA/RNA co-extraction methods, particularly a manual/organic based method with spin column purification and the automatable commercially available AllPrep DNA/RNA Micro kit (QIAGEN). The DFSC DNA laboratory personnel indicated that they do not readily use organic or manual extractions and therefore the AllPrep DNA/RNA Micro extraction kit was selected as the most suitable method for use in the current work. Using the AllPrep DNA/RNA Micro co-extraction kit, samples are first lysed in a highly denaturing guanidine-isothiocyanate-containing buffer, which immediately inactivates DNases and RNases to ensure isolation of intact DNA and RNA. The lysate is then passed through an AllPrep DNA spin column. This column, in combination with the high-salt buffer, selectively and efficiently binds genomic DNA. The column is washed and purified and ready-to-use DNA is then eluted. Ethanol is added to the flow-through from the AllPrep DNA spin column to provide appropriate binding conditions for RNA, and the sample is then applied to an RNeasy MinElute spin column, where total RNA binds to the membrane and contaminants are efficiently washed away. High-quality RNA is then eluted. The AllPrep DNA/RNA Micro co-extraction can be performed manually or can be semi-automated on the 12-sample QIACube. Using the QIAcube, 10 samples can be processed at a time (two spaces are needed during DNA isolation due to pre-heating of the elution buffer). We evaluated various protocol parameters (e.g. lysis times and temperatures, the use of additives (e.g. carrier RNA)) in order to develop an optimized co-extraction method that would work with relevant sample types (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin ('touch DNA' samples)).

The developed protocol involves an initial 1-hour lysis with Buffer RTL Plus (with 2M DTT added). The lysis step is performed on the QIACube. Following a brief 3-min centrifugation step with the swab/stain piece in a spin basket, the lysate is placed back on QIACube for DNA isolation. The DNA column is placed into position two of the rotor adaptor (Figure 1), which requires removal of the column lid. After DNA isolation, the same rotor adaptor is used for RNA isolation. A separate elution tube and RNAeasy column are placed into the rotor adaptor (Figure 1) and the flow through from the DNA isolation serves as the sample for the RNA isolation steps. The entire optimized AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction procedure takes approximately 2.5-3 hours for completion. Following DNA and RNA isolation, each fraction can then be processed using DNA and RNA specific workflows (Figure 2). As with standard DNA analysis, the DNA fraction is quantitated using real time PCR, amplified using an

STR amplification kit (AmpFlSTR Identifiler Plus was used in this study, 28 amplification cycles, 12.5 μ l reaction volume) and CE detection of the amplified products. The RNA fractions are treated with DNase to remove any residual DNA and are then quantitated using RiboGreen (Invitrogen by Life Technologies). Total RNA is then reverse transcribed and analyzed using with the developed CE 10-plex multiplex or the three developed multiplex high resolution melt (HRM) assays. The HRM analysis combines amplification and detection into a single reaction and therefore require less time to perform than the CE multiplex (~8 hours vs ~14.5 hours, Figure 2). Each of the developed RNA profiling assays is described below.

The optimized AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction method was successfully used to isolate DNA and RNA of sufficient quantity and quality from all forensically relevant biological fluids and tissues (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin), admixed body fluid samples and a range of mock casework and environmentally compromised samples.

B. Development of the 10-plex Capillary Electrophoresis Multiplex System

The second aim of the current work was to develop a highly specific and sensitive mRNA body fluid multiplex system that permits the simultaneous identification of all forensically relevant biological fluids (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin) in a single CE-based assay (which we termed for convenience 'BodyfluID'). It was our recommendation that at least two biomarkers per body fluid or tissue, when possible, be used to identify the presence of each body fluid. In the current work, we leveraged our extensive knowledge of mRNA biomarkers in order to select the most highly sensitive and specific biomarkers for each of the target body fluids and tissues. Initially, two multiplex systems were developed: a 10-plex system and a 12-plex system, with the 12-plex multiplex containing two housekeeping genes, beta-2-microglobulin (B2M) and 18S rRNA. For both multiplex systems, the following biomarkers were included: blood – ANK1 and ALAS2; semen – SEMG1 and PRM2; saliva – HTN3 and STATH; vaginal secretions – CYP2B7P1; menstrual blood – MMP10 and LEFTY2; and skin – LCE1C. A single biomarker was included for vaginal secretions as not other candidate with suitable specificity was available. A single biomarker was selected for skin as LCE1C is the most abundant candidate identified for touch DNA samples.

During development of the CE multiplex system, it became apparent that the 10-plex would be the better of the two alternative multiplex systems. The forensic community has not come to a consensus on whether it is necessary to include a housekeeping gene in multiplex systems. The 12-plex system was not selected due to the following reasons: 1) there is currently no housekeeping gene that is equally expressed amongst all body fluids and tissues, 2) due to the high abundance of housekeeping genes in some body fluids and tissues, they tend to titrate out critical PCR reagents and therefore affect the overall performance and efficiency of the multiplex and 3) the presence of body fluids markers with no housekeeping genes present has been observed and therefore could effect the ability to identify body fluids genuinely present in the sample.

The design of the 10-plex CE system is shown in Figure 3. The multiplex is a 5-dye system using FAM, VIC, NED and PET labeled biomarkers (G5 module) and LIZ-500 as the internal size standard. The multiplex was designed such that there would be little to no interference between channels as a result of pull-up from any of the included biomarkers. The primer sequences and primer mix formulation are provided in Table 1. Representative electropherograms for blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin are

shown in Figure 4. For semen, SEMG1 is a seminal fluid biomarker that should be detected in both vasectomized and non-vasectomized males. PRM2 is a sperm-specific biomarker and therefore should only be detected in non-vasectomized males. For menstrual blood, in addition to the two menstrual blood specific biomarkers (MMP10, LEFTY2), blood and vaginal secretions biomarkers may also be present as they are normal constituents of menstrual blood.

Primers for each biomarker are designed to be present in separate exons. DNA amplification products, if present, can be distinguished from RNA products due to size differences resulting from amplification of introns. Due to the small size of some introns, three DNA products are present in the analysis size range for the multiplex, two on the FAM (blue channel) and one of the VIC (green) channel (Figure 5). These products are separate from all biomarkers in the multiplex and therefore do not interfere with analysis if present. These products are useful indicators of residual DNA contamination, which may affect overall assay performance. This can alert a user to the need for a possible second DNase treatment of the sample.

A full developmental validation has been performed for the CE 10-plex system. The results of this validation will be described in Section IV-D below.

C. Development of the Multiplex High Resolution Melt (HRM) Assays

In addition to the originally proposed CE multiplex system, we also additionally included the development of three multiplex high resolution melt (HRM) assays as potential 'rapid screening' assays. The HRM assays are based on the ability to distinguish the amplification products from body fluid specific gene candidates based on different melt temperatures. These real time PCR based assays utilize unlabeled PCR primers and therefore significantly reduce the cost of analysis. Additionally, the amplification and melt curve analysis are performed in a single ~2 hour reaction and therefore reduces the length of time needed for analysis. The three HRM assays developed include the following: blood-menstrual blood (Table 2, Figure 6), sexual assault (Table 3, Figure 7) and a comprehensive hexaplex assay (Table 4, Figure 8). The blood-menstrual blood (MMP10, LEFTY2). The sexual assault HRM assay (colloquially the 'sex-plex' assay) contains one biomarker each for saliva (HTN3) and vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) and two biomarkers for semen (SEMG1 and PRM2). The hexaplex assay contains one biomarker each for blood (ANK1), semen (SEMG1), saliva (HTN3), vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1), menstrual blood (LEFTY2) and skin (LCE1C).

A full developmental validation study has been performed for each of the HRM multiplex systems. The results of the validation experiments will be described in Section IV-D below.

D. Developmental Validation of the CE and HRM Assays

1. Sensitivity

To evaluate the sensitivity of the CE and HRM assays, a range of input total RNA (50 pg to 15 ng) for each body fluid (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions and menstrual blood) was analyzed. Skin was not analyzed in this same manner as touch DNA samples often have low to undetected quantitation values. Therefore, the ability of the assays to detect skin (i.e. touch DNA samples) will be addressed separately.

CE 10-plex

The sensitivity results for the CE 10-plex are provided in Table 5. For each body fluid, three donors were evaluated, with the exception of semen in which four donors were evaluated in order to include a vasectomized male in the study. As can be seen from Table 5, picogram-level sensitivity was observed for most biomarkers. MMP10 was detected in all donors using as little as 100 pg of input total RNA and was detected in two of the three donors using only 50 pg of total input RNA. The saliva biomarkers were the least sensitive but still detectable with as little as 1 ng of input total RNA. The blood-specific mRNA biomarker sensitivity of one of the blood donors is shown in Figure 9. ALAS2 was detected for all input levels with product peaks clearly visible and well above detection thresholds. ANK1 was detected down to an input of 250 pg of total RNA.

The results of the sensitivity study were used to determine the optimal input for the CE 10plex. Reasonably consistent results were obtained when an input of 5 ng or more was used with the occasional failure to detect one or two donors for certain biomarkers (i.e. SEMG1 10 ng and STATH 5 ng; Table 5). However, when 15 ng of total RNA was used, positive detection of all biomarkers for all donors was achieved. This input level was also consistent with HRM sensitivity studies and would therefore permit a single RT reaction to be used with all four multiplex assays.

The results of the sensitivity study demonstrate that even though a 15 ng total RNA input was selected for the multiplex system, successful detection of biomarkers would still be possible for samples in which that amount of RNA was not obtained.

Blood-Menstrual Blood HRM Assay

The sensitivity results for the Blood-Menstrual Blood HRM assays are provided in Table 6. For each body fluid, three donors were tested at each input level. As was observed with the CE 10-plex, picogram-level sensitivity was observed for each of the biomarkers. The least sensitive biomarker was ALAS2 with successful detection of all three donors using as little as 500 pg of input total RNA. All other biomarkers had at least one donor detected using the lowest input level of 50 pg. Representative melt plot assays for one of the blood donors is shown in Figure 10. While an optimal input level for this multiplex could be lower than 15 ng (~5 ng total RNA input), the optimal input was kept at 15 ng to be consistent with the other multiplex systems.

Sexual Assault HRM Assay

The sensitivity results for the Sexual Assault HRM assays are provided in Table 6. For each body fluid, three donors were tested at each input level with the exception of semen in which a fourth donor (vasectomized male) was included. For this semen donor, only SEMG1 detection was expected. Picogram-level sensitivity was again observed for each of the biomarkers, with the exception of CYP2B7P1 in which reliable results were obtained with input levels of 1 ng or above. The semen biomarkers were both detected in all donors with as little as 50 pg of input total RNA. Therefore the true sensitivity of these biomarkers is likely to be well below 50 pg. A representative melt plot assays for one of the semen donors is shown in Figure 10 indicating successful detection of both biomarkers for each input level. While an optimal input level for this multiplex could be lower than 15 ng (~5 ng total RNA input), the optimal input was kept at 15 ng to be consistent with the other multiplex systems.

Hexaplex HRM Assay

The sensitivity results for the Hexaplex HRM assay is provided in Table 7. For each body fluid, three donors were tested at each input level with the exception of semen in which a fourth donor (vasectomized male) was included. Picogram-level sensitivity was observed for SEMG1 and HTN3. However, a nanogram-level input was needed for reliable biomarker detection for ANK1, CYP2B7P1 and LEFTY2. Representative melt plots for one of the saliva and vaginal secretions donors is shown in Figure 11. An overall input level of 15 ng was optimal for this multiplex system.

Comparison

An overall comparison of the sensitivities of the body fluid specific biomarkers amongst the four multiplex systems is provided in Table 8. This sensitivity comparison may be useful in selection of the most suitable detection assay for low-level samples. A picogram-level sensitivity is possible for all biomarkers using at least one multiplex system, with the exception of STATH (saliva) in which 5 ng of total RNA input is needed. STATH is the only biomarker only found in the CE multiplex system and not in one of the HRM assays.

2. Specificity

In order to evaluate the specificity of body fluid specific biomarkers in each of the multiplex systems, we evaluated numerous donors of each of the different body fluids to identify potential cross reactivity, including various tissue samples as well as nasal secretion samples (an uncommonly encountered body fluid recently evaluated and reported in the forensic literature [29]).

Body Fluid Samples

For each of the multiplex systems, 10–20 donors of each body fluid or tissue were evaluated with the exception of menstrual blood for which only 7-8 donors were available. For skin, twenty touch DNA samples were obtained and tested (a swab of headphones, computer mouse, backpack or purse strap and car steering wheel from five different donors). The results of the specificity for each multiplex is provided in Table 9.

For the CE 10-plex, no cross reactivity was observed for any of the included biomarkers. The detection of blood and vaginal secretions biomarkers in menstrual blood samples is not unexpected cross-reactivity as they are normal constituents of menstrual blood. The presence of skin was detected in three of the fifteen skin samples. This is likely a genuine detection of skin in these samples as contamination with skin can occur during collection of these samples from outer external genital areas or from the hands of donors as gloves are not typically worn during donor collections. False negative results were obtained for several biomarkers. The multiplex systems are designed to reduce (or even eliminate to the extent possible) false positive results and therefore the occasional false negative result is observed. For PRM2, only thirteen of the fourteen samples were expected to be positive as one donor tested was a vasectomized male.

For the blood-menstrual blood assay, no cross reactivity was observed for ANK1, ALAS2 or LEFTY2. MMP10 was detected in menstrual blood samples but also in four of the thirteen vaginal secretions samples. Detection of MMP10 in vaginal samples has been observed and reported by other research groups [4]. The time of collection in the female reproductive cycle is not reported for a majority of vaginal secretion samples and therefore it is possible that

increased levels of MMP10 expression are observed just prior to or just after menstruation resulting in its detection in vaginal secretions samples. As a result of the occasional detection of MMP10 in vaginal secretions samples, a definitive identification of the presence of menstrual blood requires the presence of MMP10 and LEFTY2.

For the sexual assault HRM assay, no cross reactivity was observed for any of the included biomarkers. Only one false negative result was observed for SEMG1 and PRM2 and CYP2B7P1.

For the hexaplex HRM assay, no cross reactivity was observed for any of the included biomarkers. Skin was detected in three of the seven menstrual blood donors but again is likely due to the genuine presence of skin in these samples.

Tissue Samples

In addition to body fluid samples, a number of tissue total RNA samples (trachea, kidney, ovary, adipose, placenta, spleen, liver, esophagus, small intestine, lung, colon, thymus, bladder, thyroid, cervix, skeletal muscle, brain and heart) were evaluated. These samples were obtained from commercial companies as highly purified total RNA. Therefore, in order to confirm the specificity results obtained here the extraction of tissue samples using the developed AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction method would be required.

The results for the tissue specificity study for the CE 10-plex are provided in Table 10. None of the body fluid biomarkers were detected in kidney, ovary, adipose, esophagus, colon, thymus, bladder, thyroid, cervix, skeletal muscle, brain or heart. The red blood cell marker ANK1 was detected in spleen, which is not surprising since this tissue is involved in the recycling of red blood cells. Placenta tissue had both blood and menstrual blood biomarkers. This is not unexpected as this is a reproductive tissue. The presence of STATH, CYP2B7P1 and MMP10 was detected in trachea. This expression profile is not typical of any of the forensically relevant body fluids, including in admixed samples, and therefore could possibly be distinguished. CYP2B7P1 was detected in liver, small intestine and lung tissues and therefore could not be distinguished from vaginal secretions solely with this multiplex system. Since only a single sample was evaluated initially, a second and different sample for each of these tissues was evaluated (Table 11). CYP2B7P1 was not detected in the additional liver sample, but was detected in the second lung and small intestine sample. It may be possible to distinguish lung tissue with a recently developed mRNA profiling multiplex for the identification of organ tissue [19]. Additional development of such tissue identification multiplexes may result in the ability to fully distinguish vaginal secretions from these two tissue types. Additionally, the identification of novel highly specific vaginal secretions biomarkers may also aid in differentiation of these tissue types from vaginal secretions. As stated above, additional testing of actual dried tissue samples using the developed co-extraction protocol would also be required to determine if crossreactivity with these tissues is still observed. Therefore, while current reporting guidelines will recognize the possibility of the presence of these tissues based on detection of CYP2B7P1, we fully expect to be able to fully and definitively distinguish these tissue types with alternative or additional assays that distinguish unique patterns of gene expression across all tissues.

The results for the tissue specificity study for the blood-menstrual blood assay are provided in Table 12. The blood biomarkers were not observed in a majority of the tissue samples with the exception of spleen in which ANK1 was again detected. The menstrual blood biomarkers were observed in reproductive tissues (ovary and placenta) which is therefore not

entirely unexpected. MMP10 was also detected in trachea tissue. However, no additional trachea samples were available for confirmation of that result.

The results for the tissue specificity study for the sexual assault HRM assay are provided in Table 13. As observed with the CE 10-plex, CYP2B7P1 was detected in the liver, small intestine and lung samples. SEMG1 was observed in the bladder sample but this was not observed with CE 10-plex multiplex and therefore can be distinguished from semen using a combination of these assays. The Tm value of this product is also slightly shifted ~0.5°C from the expected or average Tm for this biomarker.

The results for the tissue specificity study for the hexaplex HRM assay are provided in Table 14. Again LEFTY2 was detected in reproductive tissues (ovary and placenta), ANK1 detected in spleen and SEMG1 detected in bladder.

Any potential cross reactivity has been incorporated into interpretation guidelines for each multiplex system and as stated above will likely improve as further advances in mRNA profiling assays are made.

Nasal Secretions

Several studies have reported the presence of STATH in nasal secretions samples [29]. We therefore included an evaluation of nasal secretions samples in the specificity studies in this validation. STATH is only present in the CE 10-plex and therefore these samples were only evaluated using CE (the 12-plex assay was actually used since it was still being evaluated at the time of testing of these samples). Nasal secretions samples were obtained from four donors. STATH was detected in two of these four samples. The presence of STATH only in the absence of HTN3 has not been observed for any saliva sample tested in the current work or in our prior experience. Therefore, the presence of STATH only could indicate the possible presence of nasal secretions.

3. Species Specificity

Comprehensive species specificity testing was possible for blood biomarkers only as samples of other body fluids from animals were largely not available. A few cat and dog saliva samples were available and will be presented in the 'case type samples' section below (Section IV-D-6).

Blood samples from 18 animals and 10 primates were tested using the CE 10-plex, bloodmenstrual blood HRM and hexaplex HRM assays. The sexual assault HRM assay does not contain blood biomarkers and therefore was not included in this part of the study. The results of the initial species specificity study are provided in Table 15. For the CE 10-plex, the blood biomarkers were detected in a majority of the primate samples (7/10 samples for ALAS2 and 5/10 samples for ANK1). ANK1 was not detected in any of the animal samples indicating the human/primate specificity of this biomarker. ALAS2 was detected in the rabbit, ferret and cat sample only. For the blood-menstrual blood sample, ALAS2 was again detected in a majority of primate samples as well as the rabbit sample. The cat sample was not positive for ALAS2 using this assay. ANK1 was not detected in any of the animal samples and only in two of the primate samples (chimp and black howler monkey). The hexaplex only contains ANK1 and the high human/primate specificity was again confirmed for ANK1 using the hexaplex assay.

The only cross reactivity in the animal samples was for ALAS2 which was detected in the rabbit, ferret and cat samples. Since the initial testing included only one sample of each of these animals, additional ferret and cat samples were evaluated (eight additional ferret samples and one additional cat sample, Table 16). Additional rabbit samples were not available. As can be seen from the results in Table 16, ALAS2 was not detected in the eight other ferret samples tested using the CE 10-plex, the blood-menstrual blood or hexaplex assays. Therefore only one of nine ferret samples was positive for ALAS2. ALAS2 was also not detected in the second cat sample. Therefore cross reactivity with these species appears to be sporadic.

4. Stability

To address the stability of the developed CE and HRM multiplex assays, body fluid samples exposed to various temperatures, incubation times and environmental insults (heat, light, humidity and rain) were tested. Additionally, the stability in expression of vaginal secretions and menstrual blood biomarkers were evaluated using samples collected during female reproductive cycles in both menstruating and menopausal female samples. These samples were not extracted with the AllPrep co-extraction method but with a manual organic RNA extraction (extracted previously and stored in the laboratory at -20° C).

Environmentally Compromised Samples

To evaluate the stability of the blood biomarkers, blood samples exposed to various temperatures, incubation times and environmental insults were tested (Table 17). These conditions included exposure to room temperature, 37°C and 56°C for 1 and 2 years, outside storage with varying combinations of heat, light humidity, and rain, as well as storage in a car trunk and back seat (extreme high temperatures). These samples were tested with the CE 10-plex, the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay and the hexaplex HRM assay. As can be seen from Table 17, the blood biomarkers were detected in many of the blood samples tested but were not detected in samples that included exposure to rain (sun and shade samples). This is not unexpected as rain can not only wash away biological materials but result in increased growth of microorganisms which are detrimental to nucleic acids, both DNA and RNA. Surprisingly, the blood biomarkers were detected in all of the car and trunk samples (1-2 weeks storage) for each multiplex assay. These samples were exposed to extreme heat demonstrating a high degree of stability of these biomarkers.

Semen samples were exposed to similar conditions as described above for blood: room temperature, 37°C and 56°C for 1 and 2 years and outside storage exposed to heat, light, humidity and rain. The semen samples were evaluated using the CE 10-plex and sexual assault HRM assays (Table 18). As can be seen from Table 18, PRM2 was detected in almost every sample for both multiplex assays. This includes samples stored outside exposed to heat, light, humidity and rain. SEMG1 was also detected in a majority of samples but was more affected by exposure to rain than PRM2. These results demonstrate stability of the semen biomarkers.

Similar sample sets as described for blood and semen were tested for saliva (Table 19). The saliva markers were not as readily detected using the CE 10-plex and outside storage appeared to be detrimental to them (exposure to heat, light, humidity and rain). Saliva possesses endogenous bacteria and therefore it is expected that increased amounts of microbial growth will occur with these samples. However, the saliva biomarkers were detected in significantly more samples using the sexual assault HRM assay demonstrating increased sensitivity of this multiplex system.

Vaginal secretions samples were also exposed to room temperature, 37°C and 56°C storage for 1 and 2 years as well as exposure to outdoor conditions (heat, light, humidity and

rain). These samples were tested using the CE 10-plex, sexual assault and hexaplex HRM assays (Table 20). The vaginal secretions samples were affected more significantly by heat and outdoor conditions than the other body fluids. As with saliva, endogenous bacteria are present in vaginal samples and therefore increased amounts of microbial growth may have occurred. CYP2B7P1 was nevertheless still detected in several samples.

In addition to the samples described above, additional semen and saliva samples that had been exposed to environmental insults as well as samples deposited onto other substrates (i.e. denim) were available for testing. These samples included semen and saliva stored outside (heat, light, humidity), at 37° C (3 months) and 56° C (1 month) and on denim (room temperature for 6 months). These samples were co-extracted using the AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction kit (lysis was increased to 3 hours due to the protocol used in the study in which they were first analyzed). The results from the testing of these samples with the CE 10-plex, sexual assault HRM and hexaplex assays are provided in Table 21. The semen biomarkers were detected in all semen samples for all three assays, with the exception of the semen sample stored outside for 7 days (no biomarkers detected in this sample for any of the three assays). HTN3 was detected in the saliva samples stored outside as well as at 37° C (3 months) for both the sexual assault HRM and hexaplex HRM assays. The saliva sample on denim was also detected using the hexaplex HRM assay. HTN3 and STATH were not readily detected in these samples using the CE 10-plex, again consistent with better sensitivity achievable with the HRM assays.

Despite the false negative results obtained for some samples, overall the results of the environmentally compromised sample studies demonstrate the robust nature of the developed multiplex systems. Definitive body fluid identification was possible for challenging and compromised body fluid samples.

Female Reproductive Cycles

To further evaluate the stability of the vaginal secretions and menstrual blood biomarkers, expression of these biomarkers was evaluated in 25-28 day reproductive cycles from two menstruating (day 1 as the start of menstruation) and one menopausal female. These samples were extracted previously using a manual organic RNA extraction. Re-collection of these sample sets was not possible and therefore the non co-extracted extracts were tested. The samples were tested using the CE 10-plex (Table 22), the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay (Table 23) and the sexual assault HRM assay (Table 24).

Using the CE 10-plex, CYP2B7P1 was detected in a majority of samples for the menstruating females and in all samples for the menopausal female (Table 22). There do not appear to be any hormonal related expression changes but rather due to the age of the extracts. For the first menstruating female, menstrual blood biomarkers were detected in days 2 and 3 of menstruation. For the second menstruation female, the menstrual blood biomarkers were detected in cycle days 5 and 6. It is possible that light menstrual blood was still present on these days but not readily noticeable to the donor.

Using the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay (Table 23), menstrual blood biomarkers were again detected for donor 1 on days 2 and 3 of menstruation and days 1-4 for donor 2 (although LEFTY2 was only detected on days 1 and 2).

Using the sexual assault HRM assay (Table 24), CYP2B7P1 was detected in a majority of samples with some sporadic false negative results as observed with the CE 10-plex. Again,

none of the negatives appear to be hormonally regulated (no obvious trend with time during the cycle).

5. Mixtures

Two-donor admixed fluids (RNA extraction only)

All samples evaluated in previous studies involved the use of single source body fluid samples. The ability of the multiplex systems to identify the presence of more than one body fluid in admixed samples was next evaluated. Two-fluid admixed body fluid samples had been previously prepared and extracted using a manual organic RNA extraction. For all mixtures, the first fluid was deposited (50 μ l for liquid samples (blood, semen, saliva) and a 1/2 swab for vaginal secretions and menstrual blood) and dried and then the second fluid (liquid) was added on top of the dried stain. The admixed sample was then extracted. The mixtures included: blood-semen, blood-saliva, saliva-semen, vaginal-semen, menstrual blood-semen, vaginal-saliva and menstrual blood-saliva. For each of the liquid samples added, they were added in decreasing volumes (50, 25, 10 and 5 μ l) for each mixture type. The samples were tested using the CE 10-plex and all three HRM assays.

The results from the CE 10-plex analysis of the admixed body fluid samples are provided in Table 25. Each biomarker is represented by a "+" for each body fluid (e.g. for blood ANK1 and ALAS2 would be represented by a ++). For each mixture containing blood, both biomarkers were detected in each sample. ALAS2 was also detected for menstrual blood mixtures. For semen, PRM2 was detected in a majority of samples and only absent in two samples (vaginalsemen-25 µl and menstrual blood-semen 50 µl) in which no semen markers were detected. SEMG1 was not as readily detected as PRM2 but was present in some samples in each semen mixture type with the exception of the saliva-semen mixture. Saliva was successfully detected in all blood-saliva mixtures but was not detected in a majority of the mixtures with vaginal secretions or menstrual blood. This is likely due to the high RNA yield of these body fluids. Dilutions were made based on an overall quantitation and therefore saliva RNA (typically less abundant than other body fluids) will have been highly diluted. Additionally, endogenous bacteria in both of the body fluids in these mixtures were present causing an artificially higher quantitation value. CYP2B7P1 was detected in all mixtures containing vaginal secretions or menstrual blood. Menstrual blood markers were detected in all but one of the menstrual blood mixtures (menstrual blood-semen 50 µl). This mixture was negative for both menstrual blood and semen biomarkers and therefore indicative of a sample issue. A representative electropherogram for the detection of both body fluids in an admixed sample is shown in Figure 13. This blood-saliva mixture is comprised of 50 µl of each body fluid and as can be seen both blood and both saliva biomarkers were detected.

All mixtures were tested using the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay (Table 26) as well. All mixtures not containing blood or menstrual blood were negative. Blood was detected in all mixtures containing blood. Menstrual blood was detected in each of the menstrual blood-saliva mixture samples and in a majority of the menstrual blood-semen mixtures.

All mixtures were tested using the sexual assault HRM assay (Table 27). The detection of saliva was better using this assay compared to the CE multiplex. The same blood-saliva and saliva-semen samples were positive for saliva using this assay as was observed for the CE 10-plex, however two vaginal-saliva and all four menstrual blood-saliva samples were positive using the sexual assault HRM assay. For the CE 10-plex, none of the vaginal-saliva and only one

of the menstrual blood-saliva assays were positive. For semen, PRM2 was detected in all semen containing mixtures with the exception of the menstrual blood-semen 50 μ l which was previously determined to be a sample issue. SEMG1 was detected in a majority of samples with the exception of the saliva-semen mixtures in which it was not detected in any of the four samples. The same result was obtained with the CE 10-plex. CYP2B7P1 was detected in all but one sample. A representative melt plot for a saliva-semen admixture is shown in Figure 14. For this sample, 5 μ l of semen was added to a dried 50 μ l saliva sample. As can be seen from this figure, both saliva (HTN3) and semen (PRM2 and SEMG1) were successfully detected.

All mixtures were tested with the hexaplex HRM assay (Table 28). HTN3 was again detected in more of the saliva admixtures compared to the CE 10-plex (similar to the results observed using the sexual assault HRM assay). SEMG1 was detected in all blood-semen and menstrual blood-semen mixtures (with the exception of the 50 μ l sample which was previously determined to be a sample issue). It was detected in two samples each of the saliva-semen and vaginal-semen mixtures. ANK1 was again detected in all blood-containing mixtures. CYP2B7P1 was detected in all vaginal-saliva samples but not in the vaginal-semen mixtures. LEFTY2 was detected in a majority of the menstrual blood-semen and menstrual blood-saliva samples.

Despite some differences between assays, overall the results of the initial two-fluid mixture study demonstrate the ability of each system to successfully detect multiple body fluids from an individual sample. All of the mixtures tested in the initial mixture study were not co-extracted. We therefore wanted to evaluate additional admixed samples using the full BodyfluID system including the AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction. We focused on semen-vaginal secretions mixtures since these best represent sexual assault evidence. The mixtures were prepared by adding liquid semen to $\frac{1}{4}$ dried vaginal samples in decreasing volumes (25, 10, 5 and 1 µl). One of the semen donors was a vasectomized male. The mixtures were tested with the CE 10-plex and sexual assault HRM assays (Table 29).

For the CE 10-plex, semen biomarkers were detected in two of the three mixture sets, with SEMG1 not detected in any of the samples with the vasectomized male donor. CYP2B7P1 was detected in two out of four samples for two of the donor sets and in all four samples for the third donor set. Using the sexual assault HRM, SEMG1 was detected in a majority of samples including the vasectomized male set (detected in three out of four samples). PRM2 was detected in the samples from the two non-vasectomized male donor sample sets. CYP2B7P1 was also detected in all but two samples amongst the three donor sets. Figure 15 shows the DNA and RNA profiling results from a vaginal-semen (5 µl of liquid semen, ¼ vaginal swab). As can be seen an admixed DNA profile is obtained. Using the CE 10-plex, semen (PRM2 and SEMG1) and vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) were identified. Similarly, both body fluids were successfully detected using the sexual assault HRM assay as well. Figure 16 shows another vaginal-semen (5 µl of liquid semen, ¼ vaginal swab) mixture sample. For this sample, a single source female profile was obtained for the DNA fraction and only vaginal secretions was detected using the CE 10-plex. However, when the sample was tested with the sexual assault HRM assay SEMG1 (semen) was also identified. This is another example of the high sensitivity of the developed HRM assays.

The results of this study demonstrate the ability of both multiplex systems to detect both components in admixed body fluid samples but also demonstrate the improved sensitivity and performance of the HRM assays.

6. Case Type Samples

A variety of casework type samples were tested, including 100 touch DNA samples and various mock casework samples.

Touch DNA Samples

In order to evaluate the ability of the CE 10-plex and hexaplex HRM assays to identify skin in touch DNA samples, 100 touch DNA samples were tested. Twenty samples from five different donors were collected and included samples collected from the following items: cups, water/drink bottle, computer mouse, door handle/knob, cell phone, pen, keyboard, headphones, phone, key, care steering wheel, refrigerator door handle, microwave button, backpack or purse trap, hair brush handle, TV remote, silverware, toothbrush handle and then a swab of a finger and arm. The same sample types were collected for each donor for consistency. The samples were all co-extracted using the AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction. For the CE 10-plex, slightly modified conditions were employed (increase to 2 μ l of cDNA from 1 μ l and increase to 35 cycles from 33). These modifications were developed specifically to optimize results for touch DNA samples but could also be used for any low level samples.

The RNA profiling results for both the CE 10-plex and the hexaplex HRM assay are provided in Table 30. LEC1C was successfully detected in 44% of samples for both the CE 10-plex and hexaplex HRM assays. Interestingly, the positive results are not identical for both systems with some samples positive for both multiplex systems, with others only positive for one. For 83 of the 100 samples, undetectable RNA quantitation values were obtained. For those with a detectable quantitation, values ranged from 0.1 to 7.7 ng/µl (average ~3.3 ng/µl). Therefore, skin was still detected in numerous samples with undetectable RNA quantitation values.

Since the touch DNA samples were co-extracted, the DNA fractions were also tested. Table 31 contains the DNA and RNA profiling results for all 100 touch DNA samples. A DNA profile (1 or more allele) was not obtained for only 12 of the samples (therefore 88% success rate for DNA profiling, albeit with varying degrees of probity). For four of these samples, skin (LCE1C) was still detected. However, approximately 30 of the 88 samples had 14 alleles or less and therefore may not be highly probative profiles. ~50% of the samples had probative DNA profiles (more similar to the 44% success rate for RNA profiling). Admixed DNA profiles were only observed for 6 of the 100 samples.

Mock Casework Samples

Over the past several years, a series of six collaborative exercises for the evaluation of RNA profiling have been performed by the European DNA Profiling Group (EDNAP), coorganized by the Institute of Legal Medicine at the University of Zurich and the University of Central Florida [5,6,8-10]. These studies were designed to allow laboratories to evaluate the potential use of mRNA profiling, with a majority of laboratories having little to no RNA experience. Participating laboratories (sixteen or more) analyzed unknown-to-participant samples prepared by the organizer (Zurich) and included both target and non-target body fluid samples and in some cases admixed samples. Laboratories were provided primer mixes and recommended protocols. Laboratories were also asked to include additional casework or mock casework samples. A summary of the subjects of each of the six studies is provided in Table 32. From these studies, co-extracted 'unknown' samples were available in our laboratory from the semen, saliva and vaginal secretions studies. Therefore we evaluated these 'mock casework' samples using the CE and HRM multiplex systems developed in the current study.

The results from the testing of these samples with the CE 10-plex are provided in Table 33. As can be seen for the first E3-semen/saliva sample set, the correct body fluid was identified for each of the expected samples with the exception of the chewing gum sample in which saliva was not identified. Semen and saliva were successfully detected in a saliva-semen admixture in which 5 μ l and 1 μ l, respectively, of each body fluid were present. A dog buccal swab was included in the study and none of our saliva biomarkers were detected, perhaps due to differences in the dog versus human transcripts. For the second E3-semen/saliva sample set, the correct body fluid was successfully identified in five samples including a blood-saliva mixture in which 1 and 2 μ l, respectively, of each body fluid were present. In this sample set, a cat buccal swab was tested and again no saliva biomarkers were detected. For the E5-vaginal sample set, vaginal secretions was successfully detected in all samples containing vaginal secretions with the exception of the sanitary towel which was negative for the presence of menstrual blood as well. These samples included worn underpants and fresh and aged vaginal swabs. CYP2B7P1 was detected (minor peak) in a urine swab but it is not possible to exclude the possibility that vaginal secretions were present in this sample.

The same samples were tested with the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay (Table 34). Only a small number of these samples contained blood, but the blood biomarkers were successfully detected in each of these samples (3 μ l blood on swab, 2 μ l saliva/1 μ l blood mixture). ANK1 was detected on the ¹/₄ vaginal swab. This was not observed for the CE multiplex. However, the HRM assays are more sensitive and therefore it is possible (likely?) that a trace amount of blood is present in this sample.

The samples were also tested with the sexual assault HRM assay (Table 35). Saliva, semen and vaginal secretions were successfully detected in a majority of the saliva-, semen- and vaginal secretions-containing samples. Semen was detected in the '3 μ l semen inside latex glove sample' that was not detected using the CE 10-plex.

The samples were also tested with the hexaplex HRM assay (Table 36). Saliva and semen were successfully detected in a majority of saliva-containing samples. Blood was successfully detected in the two samples containing blood. Vaginal secretions was not as successful using the hexaplex HRM assay, as is expected since the sensitivity of the hexaplex assay is not as good as the other HRM assays.

The results of the touch DNA and mock casework samples demonstrate the suitability of use of the developed RNA multiplex assays (CE and HRM) for use in routine casework. Body fluids were successfully identified in trace body fluid samples including admixed samples.

7. Precision and Accuracy

To assess the precision and accuracy of the CE and HRM assays, three donors were tested five times each (both biological and technical replicates). Metric averages (base pair size (CE); Tm value (HRM assays)) and variation (standard deviations) were calculated for each of the biomarkers in each multiplex system. These values were used as the basis for bin development for marker calling in each multiplex system.

The results for the CE 10-plex are provided in Table 37. As can be seen, highly reproducible results were obtained with either a 0.0 or 0.1 standard deviation for all biomarkers.

The results for the HRM assays are provided in Table 38. Again, highly reproducible results were obtained for all samples with standard deviations of only 0.0, 0.1 or 0.2 for all biomarkers.

E. Differential DNA/RNA Co-Extraction

Previously, semen-vaginal secretions mixtures were extracted using the AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction method. As was seen in Figure 15, an admixed DNA profile is often obtained as there is no separation of sperm and non-sperm fractions prior to analysis. For the DNA analysis of sexual assault evidence, it is routine to separate sperm and non-sperm fractions by a differential extraction in order to try and obtain single source DNA profiles of the contributors. Current RNA profiling methods are not fully compatible with differential extraction method using a modified AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction. A differential co-extraction method requires separation of sperm and non-sperm fractions prior to DNA and RNA isolation.

We evaluated various lysis buffers, lysis temperatures and times as well as various storage temperatures for the non-sperm lysate. We have developed a preliminary differential co-extraction protocol using diluted ATL buffer which is the current differential extraction lysis buffer used by the DFSC laboratory. The differential co-extraction protocol uses a quick 15-minute lysis with diluted ATL buffer. The sample is then centrifuged to pellet sperm cells and the non-sperm cell fraction is then transferred to a separate tube. The non-sperm cell fraction is stored during the subsequent one-hour sperm cell lysis (start of the developed AllPrep DNA/RNA co-extraction). After sperm cell lysis, the non-sperm and sperm cell fractions are then both ready for DNA and RNA isolation. A DNA and RNA sample is then obtained for both the sperm and non-sperm cell fractions. Preliminary results suggest that, with further optimization, a successful differential co-extraction method can be developed.

The prototype differential co-extraction protocol has been tested with simulated sexual assault mixtures (liquid semen added to dried vaginal swabs). Figures 17 and 18 show examples of semen-vaginal secretions mixtures that were extracted with the differential co-extraction protocol. In the example shown in Figure 17, a single source DNA profile of the female donor was obtained for the F1 non-sperm fraction and semen (PRM2) was identified using the CE 10plex. Unexpectedly the vaginal secretions marker CYP2B7P1was not detected. A single source DNA profile of the male donor was obtained for the F2 sperm fraction and PRM2 (semen) was identified using the CE 10-plex. This example highlights one of the issues with the current protocol – the failure to identify vaginal secretions RNA (CYP2B7P1) in the non-sperm fraction. However, it also demonstrates the successful separation of sperm and non-sperm fractions with single source DNA profiles obtained for both donors. Additionally, semen was correctly identified which is critical. While not ideal, it is not necessarily critical that vaginal secretions be identified particularly if the sample is a vaginal sample. In the example shown in Figure 18, vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) was successfully identified in the F1 non-sperm fraction. PRM2 was also present indicating some premature lysis of sperm cells during the initial lysis step, which is not unexpected. As a result of this premature lysis, some male alleles can be seen in the DNA profile obtained for this fraction. The major contributor is the female donor and the major contributor profile is discernible. For the sperm fraction, semen (PRM2) was identified and a single source male DNA profile was obtained.

These two examples demonstrate limited success of the differential co-extraction protocol and indicates the need for additional work in order to resolve a few critical issues: 1) failure to detect CYP2B7P1 consistently in non-sperm fractions, 2) the need to detect SEMG1 in sperm fractions and 3) prevention of premature lysis into the non-sperm fraction in order to eliminate the presence (even if minor) of the male donor in the non-sperm fraction. However, overall the current prototype protocol permits successful single source STR profiles to be obtained which was the main goal of this protocol. Further optimization will hopefully improve RNA stability and biomarker detection.

V. CONCLUSIONS

The aims of the current work were to custom-develop for DFSC casework use: (i) a DNA/RNA co-extraction isolation protocol suitable for dried biological evidence material (including trace amounts); and (ii) a highly specific and robust mRNA body fluid multiplex system that permits the simultaneous identification of all forensically relevant biological fluids and tissues (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin) in a single assay. As described here, we have achieved both aims of the project and have developed a comprehensive RNA-based body fluid identification system for use by the DFSC laboratory. This would possibly be the first implementation of such an approach in the U.S.

The DFSC body fluid identification system includes a DNA/RNA co-extraction method as well as highly specific and sensitive CE and HRM RNA profiling multiplex systems that permit an identification of all of the major forensically relevant body fluids and tissues. The developmental validation demonstrated the suitability of use of the BodyfluID system with a variety of casework type samples, admixed body fluid samples and environmentally compromised samples. A full technical protocol manual was also created and provided to the DFSC laboratory. Technology transfer of the protocols and assays has begun.

Despite the success of the developed RNA profiling assays, continued optimization and further development of enhanced RNA profiling assays may further support workflows of operational crime laboratories. This includes the full development of the differential co-extraction method as well as efforts to improve overall 'sample to detection' times for more high-throughput sample analysis.

VI. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] J. Ballantyne Serology, Overview. in: J. A. Siegel, P. J. Sauko, and G. C. Knupfer (Eds.) Encyclopedia of Forensic Sciences, Academic Press, London, 2000, pp. 1322-1331.
- [2] B. Alberts, D. Bray, J. Lewis, M. Raff, K. Roberts, J.D. Watson, Molecular Biology of the Cell,3rd ed., Garland Publishing Inc, New York, 1994.
- [3] R. Fleming, S. Harbison, The development of a mRNA multiplex RT-PCR assay for the definitive identification of body fluids, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 4 (2010) 244.
- [4] C. Haas, B. Klesser, C. Maake, W. Bar, A. Kratzer, mRNA profiling for body fluid identification by reverse transcription endpoint PCR and realtime PCR, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 3 (2009) 80-88.
- [5] C. Haas, E. Hanson, W. Bar, R. Banemann, A.M. Bento, A. Berti, E. Borges, C. Bouakaze, A. Carracedo, M. Carvalho, A. Choma, M. Dotsch, M. Duriancikova, P. Hoff-Olsen, C. Hohoff, P. Johansen, P.A. Lindenbergh, B. Loddenkotter, B. Ludes, O. Maronas, N. Morling, H. Niederstatter, W. Parson, G. Patel, C. Popielarz, E. Salata, P.M. Schneider, T. Sijen, B. Sviezena, L. Zatkalikova, J. Ballantyne, mRNA profiling for the identification of blood--results of a collaborative EDNAP exercise, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 5 (2011) 21-26.
- [6] C. Haas, E. Hanson, M.J. Anjos, W. Bar, R. Banemann, A. Berti, E. Borges, C. Bouakaze, A. Carracedo, M. Carvalho, V. Castella, A. Choma, C.G. De, M. Dotsch, P. Hoff-Olsen, P. Johansen, F. Kohlmeier, P.A. Lindenbergh, B. Ludes, O. Maronas, D. Moore, M.L. Morerod, N. Morling, H. Niederstatter, F. Noel, W. Parson, G. Patel, C. Popielarz, E. Salata, P.M. Schneider, T. Sijen, B. Sviezena, M. Turanska, L. Zatkalikova, J. Ballantyne, RNA/DNA co-analysis from blood stains-Results of a second collaborative EDNAP exercise, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 6 (2011) 70-80.
- [7] C. Haas, E. Hanson, J. Ballantyne, Capillary electrophoresis of a multiplex reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction to target messenger RNA markers for body fluid identification, Methods Mol.Biol. 830 (2012) 169-183.
- [8] C. Haas, E. Hanson, M.J. Anjos, R. Banemann, A. Berti, E. Borges, A. Carracedo, M. Carvalho, C. Courts, C.G. De, M. Dotsch, S. Flynn, I. Gomes, C. Hollard, B. Hjort, P. Hoff-Olsen, K. Hribikova, A. Lindenbergh, B. Ludes, O. Maronas, N. McCallum, D. Moore, N. Morling, H. Niederstatter, F. Noel, W. Parson, C. Popielarz, C. Rapone, A.D. Roeder, Y. Ruiz, E. Sauer, P.M. Schneider, T. Sijen, Court DS, B. Sviezena, M. Turanska, A. Vidaki, L. Zatkalikova, J. Ballantyne, RNA/DNA co-analysis from human saliva and semen stains--results of a third collaborative EDNAP exercise, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 7 (2013) 230-239.
- [9] C. Haas, E. Hanson, M.J. Anjos, K.N. Ballantyne, R. Banemann, B. Bhoelai, E. Borges, M. Carvalho, C. Courts, C.G. De, K. Drobnic, M. Dotsch, R. Fleming, C. Franchi, I. Gomes, G. Hadzic, S.A. Harbison, J. Harteveld, B. Hjort, C. Hollard, P. Hoff-Olsen, C. Huls, C. Keyser, O. Maronas, N. McCallum, D. Moore, N. Morling, H. Niederstatter, F. Noel, W. Parson, C. Phillips, C. Popielarz, A.D. Roeder, L. Salvaderi, E. Sauer, P.M. Schneider, G. Shanthan, Court DS, M. Turanska, R.A. van Oorschot, M. Vennemann, A. Vidaki, L. Zatkalikova, J. Ballantyne, RNA/DNA co-analysis from human menstrual blood and vaginal secretion stains: results of a fourth and fifth collaborative EDNAP exercise, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 8 (2014) 203-212.

- [10] C. Haas, E. Hanson, R. Banemann, A.M. Bento, A. Berti, A. Carracedo, C. Courts, C.G. De, K. Drobnic, R. Fleming, C. Franchi, I. Gomes, G. Hadzic, S.A. Harbison, B. Hjort, C. Hollard, P. Hoff-Olsen, C. Keyser, A. Kondili, O. Maronas, N. McCallum, P. Miniati, N. Morling, H. Niederstatter, F. Noel, W. Parson, M.J. Porto, A.D. Roeder, E. Sauer, P.M. Schneider, G. Shanthan, T. Sijen, Syndercombe Court, M. Turanska, M. van den Berge, M. Vennemann, A. Vidaki, L. Zatkalikova, J. Ballantyne, RNA/DNA co-analysis from human skin and contact traces-results of a sixth collaborative EDNAP exercise, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 16 (2015) 139-147.
- [11] E. Hanson, J. Ballantyne, RNA profiling for the identification of the tissue origin of dried stains in forensic biology, Forensic Sci.Rev. 22 (2010) 145-157.
- [12] E. Hanson, C. Haas, R. Jucker, J. Ballantyne, Identification of skin in touch/contact forensic samples by messenger RNA profiling, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet.Supp.Ser. 3 (2011) e306.
- [13] E. Hanson, C. Haas, R. Jucker, J. Ballantyne, Specific and sensitive mRNA biomarkers for the identification of skin in 'touch DNA' evidence, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 6 (2012) 548-558.
- [14] E. Hanson, J. Ballantyne, Highly specific mRNA biomarkers for the identification of vaginal secretions in sexual assault investigations, Science & Justice 53 (2013) 14-22.
- [15] J. Juusola, J. Ballantyne, Messenger RNA profiling: a prototype method to supplant conventional methods for body fluid identification, Forensic Sci.Int. 135 (2003) 85-96.
- [16] J. Juusola, J. Ballantyne, Multiplex mRNA profiling for the identification of body fluids, Forensic Sci.Int. 152 (2005) 1-12.
- [17] J. Juusola, J. Ballantyne, mRNA profiling for body fluid identification by multiplex quantitative RT-PCR, J.Forensic Sci. 52 (2007) 1252-1262.
- [18] A. Lindenbergh, P.M. de, G. Ramdayal, M. Visser, D. Zubakov, M. Kayser, T. Sijen, A multiplex (m)RNA-profiling system for the forensic identification of body fluids and contact traces, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 6 (2012) 565-577.
- [19] A. Lindenbergh, M. van den Berge, R.J. Oostra, C. Cleypool, A. Bruggink, A. Kloosterman, T. Sijen, Development of a mRNA profiling multiplex for the inference of organ tissues, Int.J.Legal Med. 127 (2013) 891-900.
- [20] M.L. Richard, K.A. Harper, R.L. Craig, A.J. Onorato, J.M. Robertson, J. Donfack, Evaluation of mRNA marker specificity for the identification of five human body fluids by capillary electrophoresis, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 6 (2012) 452-460.
- [21] A.D. Roeder, C. Haas, mRNA profiling using a minimum of five mRNA markers per body fluid and a novel scoring method for body fluid identification, Int.J.Legal Med. 127 (2013) 707-721.
- [22] M. van den Berge, A. Carracedo, I. Gomes, E.A. Graham, C. Haas, B. Hjort, P. Hoff-Olsen, O. Maronas, B. Mevag, N. Morling, H. Niederstatter, W. Parson, P.M. Schneider, Court DS, A. Vidaki, T. Sijen, A collaborative European exercise on mRNA-based body fluid/skin typing and interpretation of DNA and RNA results, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 10 (2014) 40-48.
- [23] D. Zubakov, E. Hanekamp, M. Kokshoorn, I.W. van, M. Kayser, Stable RNA markers for identification of blood and saliva stains revealed from whole genome expression analysis of time-wise degraded samples, Int.J.Legal Med. 122 (2008) 135-142.

- [24] D. Zubakov, M. Kokshoorn, A. Kloosterman, M. Kayser, New markers for old stains: stable mRNA markers for blood and saliva identification from up to 16-year-old stains, Int.J.Legal Med. 123 (2009) 71-74.
- [25] M. Alvarez, J. Juusola, J. Ballantyne, An mRNA and DNA co-isolation method for forensic casework samples, Anal.Biochem. 335 (2004) 289-298.
- [26] C. Haas, E. Hanson, A. Kratzer, W. Bar, J. Ballantyne, Selection of highly specific and sensitive mRNA biomarkers for the identification of blood, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet. 5 (2011) 449-458.
- [27] C. Parker, E. Hanson, J. Ballantyne, Optimization of dried stain co-extraction methods for efficient recovery of high quality DNA and RNA for forensic analysis, Forensic Sci.Int.Genet.Supp.Ser. 3 (2011) e309-e310.
- [28] M. Setzer, J. Juusola, J. Ballantyne, Recovery and stability of RNA in vaginal swabs and blood, semen, and saliva stains, J.Forensic Sci. 53 (2008) 296-305.
- [29] K. Sakurada, T. Akutsu, K. Watanabe, Y. Fujinami, M. Yoshino, Expression of statherin mRNA and protein in nasal and vaginal secretions, Leg.Med.(Tokyo). 13 (2011) 309-313.

VII. TABLES

<u>Table 1.Primer Sequences (top) and Primer Mix Composition (bottom) for the CE 10-plex</u> <u>assay</u>

Primer sequences

Biomarker (Cone)	Primer sequence (5'-3')
ANT/1	E. EAM CACCTCCTCCTCCAAC
ANKI	F: FAM-CAGCIGCICCICCICAAG
	R: GCTGCTCTCAGAAAGCTGGTA
ALAS2	F: FAM-TGTGTCCGTCTGGTGTAGTA
	R: AAACTTACTGGTGCCTGAGA
PRM2	F: VIC-GGCGCAAAAGACGCTCC
	R: GCCCAGGAAGCTTAGTGCC
SEMG1	F: NED-TCGGTAACCATGTGAAAGGA
	R: CGGGAGTCTGCATCTCAGAA
STATH	F: NED-TCATCAGTAACTGCAGGACA
	R: AGGCAAGTATCCTGAAACAA
HTN3	F: NED-TTGCTTTAATCTTGGCTCTC
	R: GCGGTATGACAAATGAGAAT
CYP2B7P1	F: FAM-TCCTTTCTGAGGTTCCGAGA
	R: TTTCCATTGGCAAAGAGCAT
MMP10	F: FAM-TGACGTTGGTCACTTCAGCTC
	R: CTGGAGAATGTGAGTGGAGT
LEFTY2	F: PET-GCCCACGTGAGGGCCCAGTATGTAGT
	R: GGTGTGTGCTGGCCTCCGACGC
LCEIC	F: GCTGAAGGACCCTGTGCT
	R: CAGGACATCTTGGTGGCG

Primer mix

Biomarker	Conc (µM) stock primer	Vol (µl) F. R primers	Final conc (µM)
ANK1	200	5.0	1
ALAS2	100	0.45	0.045
PRM2	100	0.25	0.025
SEMG1	100	0.3	0.03
STATH	200	6.0	1.2
HTN3	200	4.5	0.9
CYP2B7P1	100	1.5	0.15
MMP10	100	0.75	0.075
LEFT2	100	4.0	0.4
LCE1C	100	0.3	0.03
Nuc Free H ₂ O	NA	53.9	NA

100µl sufficient for 80 reactions

<u>Table 2.Primer Sequences (Top) and Primer Mix Composition (Bottom) for the Blood-</u> <u>Menstrual Blood HRM Assay</u>

Biomarker Tm (°C)		Primer Sequence (5'-3')	
MMP10	81.5, 82.0	F: GGGGGTGACGTTGGTCACTTCAGCTC	
		R: GGGGGCTGGAGAATGTGAGTGGAGT	
ANK1	83.2	F: GGCATGCCCTATTCTGTG	
		R: CTTAGAAGCCAGATGCAAGC	
ALAS2	86.1	F: TGTGTCCGTCTGGTGTAGTA	
		R: AAACTTACTGGTGCCTGAGA	
LEFTY2	89.0	F: GCCCACGTGAGGGCCCAGTATGTAGT	
		R: GGTGTGTGCTGGCCTCCGACGC	

Biomarker	Conc (µM) stock primer	Vol (µl) F, R primers	Final conc (µM) in assay	
MMP10	40	7	0.0085	
ANK1	40	10	0.121	
ALAS2	40	8	0.097	
LEFTY2	40	8	0.097	

<u>Table 3. Primer Sequences (Top) and Primer Mix Composition (Bottom) for the Sexual</u> <u>Assault HRM Assay</u>

Biomarker Tm (°C)		Primer Sequence (5'-3')	
HTN3	77.0	F: GCAAAGAGACATCATGGGTA	
		R: GCCAGTCAAACCTCCATAATC	
SEMG1	78.7	F: TCGGTAACCATGTGAAAGGA	
		R: TGAAACTACACGGGAGTCTGC	
PRM2	84.4	F: GGCGCAAAAGACGCTCC	
		R: GCCCAGGAAGCTTAGTGCC	
CYP2B7P1	86.6	F: TCCTTTCTGAGGTTCCGAGA	
		R: TTTCCATTGGCAAAGAGCAT	

Biomarker	Conc (µM) stock primer	Vol (µl) F, R primers	Final conc (µM) in assay	
HTN3	40	10	0.0077	
SEMG1	40	12	0.092	
PRM2	40	12	0.092	
CYP2B7P1	40	18	0.1385	

Table 4. Primer Sequences (Top) and Primer Mix Composition (Bottom) for the Hexaplex HRM Assay

Biomarker	Tm (°C)	Primer Sequence (5'-3')	
HTN3	76.7	F: GCAAAGAGACATCATGGGTA	
	2	R: GCCAGTCAAACCTCCATAATC	
SEMG1	78.5	F: TCGGTAACCATGTGAAAGGA	
		R: TGAAACTACACGGGAGTCTGC	
LCE1C	81.7	F: GCTGAAGGACCCTGTGCT	
		R: CAGGACATCTTGGTGGCG	
ANK1	83.1	F: GGCATGCCCTATTCTGTG	
		R: CTTAGAAGCCAGATGCAAGC	
CYP2B7P1	86.4	F: TCCTTTCTGAGGTTCCGAGA	
		R: TTTCCATTGGCAAAGAGCAT	
LEFTY2	89.0	F: GCCCACGTGAGGGCCCAGTATGTAGT	
		R: GGTGTGTGCTGGCCTCCGACGC	

Biomarker	Conc (µM) stock primer	Vol (µl) F, R primers	Final conc (µM) in assay	
HTN3	40	12	0.0552	
SEMG1	40	14	0.0644	
LCE1C	40	15	0.0690	
ANK1	40	14	0.0644	
CYP2B7P1	40	20	0.0920	
LEFTY2	40	12	0.0552	
Table 5. CE 10-plex Sensitivity

				1	0-plex				
Input	Blood (n=3)		Semen (n=4*)		Sal (n:	Saliva (n=3)		Menstrual Blood (n=3)	
(ng)	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2
15	+++	+++	+++-	++++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
10	+++	+++	+++-	+-++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
5	+++	+++	+++-	++++	-+-	+++	+++	+++	+++
1	+++	+++	+++-	++		-+-	+++	+++	+-+
0.5	+++	+++	+++-	++			-++	+++	++-
0.25	-++	-++	+-+-	++			-++	++-	++-
0.1		-++	+-+-			-+-	-++	+++	+
0.05	+	+++	+					++-	

Each donor represented by a "+" (biomarker detected) or a "-" (biomarker not detected) Dark grey > 1000 RFUs; Medium grey 500 – 999 RFUs; Light grey 50 – 499 RFUs; No color < 50 RFUs

	Blood	-Menstrual Blood (4-plex)	
Innut	Blood	l (n=3)	Menstrual	Blood (n=3)
Input	ANK1	ALAS2	MMP10	LEFTY2
(ng)	83.0°C	86.2°C	82.3°C	89.2°C
15	+++	+++	+++	+++
10	+++	+++	+++	+++
5	+++	+++	+++	+++
1	+++	+++	+++	+-+
0.5	+++	+++	+++	+++
0.25	+++	+	+++	++-
0.1	-++		+++	+-+
0.05	+		++-	+

Table 6. Blood-Menstrual Blood and Sexual Assault HRM Multiplex Sensitivity

	Sexual	Assault Multiple	ex (4-plex)	
Input	Sen (n=	nen =4)	Saliva (n=3)	Vaginal (n=3)
(ng)	SEMG1	PRM2	HTN3	CYP2B7P1
	78.6°C	84.2°C	76.8°C	86.7°C
15	++++	+++-	+++	+++
10	++++	+++-	+++	+++
5	++++	+++-	+++	+++
1	++++	+++-	+++	-++
0.5	++++	+++-	+	+
0.25	++++	+++-	++-	
0.1	++	+++-		
0.05	++++	+++-		

*4th semen donor included was a vasectomized male; only SEMG1 expected for this donor

Each donor represented by a "+" (biomarker detected) or a "-" (biomarker not detected). **Dark grey** - 3/3 donors; **Medium grey**- 2/3 donors; **Light grey**- 1/3 donors; **No color**- no donors detected. Average Tm (°C) values are provided below each biomarker name.

		F	lexaplex (6-	plex)		
Input	Blood (n=3)	Semen (n=4)	Saliva (n=3)	Vaginal (n=3)	Menstrual Blood (n=3)	Skin
(ng)	ANK1	SEMG1	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	LEFTY2	LCE1C
	83.3°C	78.9°C	77.1°C	86.5°C	89.1°C	
15	+++	++++	+++	+++	+++	NT
10	+++	++++	+++	+++	+++	NT
5	+++	++++	+++	+++	-+-	NT
1	++-	++++	+++	-++	+	NT
0.5	-+-	+-++	+++	-+-	+	NT
0.25		-+++	++-		+	NT
0.1		++	+		-+-	NT
0.05		-+++	+-+		+	NT

Table 7. Hexaplex HRM Assay Sensitivity

Each donor represented by a "+" (biomarker detected) or a "-" (biomarker not detected)

Dark grey 3/3 donors; Medium grey 2/3 donors; Light grey 1/3 donors; No color no donors detected

Table 8. Comparison of Biomarker Sensitivity within Each Multiplex As	<u>say</u>

Body Fluid	Biomarker	CE 10-plex	BD-MB	Sex-plex	Hexaplex
Blood	ANK1	50 pg	50 pg		500 pg
	ALAS2	50 pg	250 pg		
Semen	PRM2	50 pg		50 pg	
	SEMG1	250 pg		50 pg	50 pg
Saliva	HTN3	1 ng		250 pg	50 pg
	STATH	5 ng			
Vaginal	CYP2B7P1	100 pg		500 pg	500 pg
Menstrual	MMP10	50 pg	50 pg		
	LEFTY2	100 pg	50 pg		50 pg

Table 9. Specificity - CE 10-plex and HRM Multiplex Assays

The specificity of each multiplex assay (CE 10-plex, blood-menstrual blood HRM, sexual assault HRM and hexaplex HRM) was assessed by an evaluation of numerous donors of each body fluid and tissue for each system. For each assay, the number of individual body fluid donors positive each biomarker out of the total number of donors tested is shown. For the skin samples, twenty touch samples were evaluated (a swab of headphones, computer mouse, backpack or purse strap and car steering wheel from five different donors).

CE-10plex	Body Fluid	ANK.	I ALAS2	P	RM2	SEMG1	STAT	н	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LCE1C
CL TOPICX	Blood	14/1	4 14/14		^				- í		5		
	Semen			1	3/14	13/14							
	Saliva						8/1	1	11/11				
	Vaginal Secretions		1							15/15			3/15
	Menstrual Blood	3/8	6/8							7/8	7/8	6/8	
	Skin (Touch)												9/20
					10 H	-			_				
BD-MB	Body Fluid		ANK1	AU	AS2	MMP1	0 L	EFTY	2				
	Blood		15/15	15	/15	0/15		0/15					
	Menstrual Blood		3/7	4	17 -	7/7		6/7					
	Saliva		0/12	0/	12	0/12		0/12					
	Semen		0/11	0/	11	0/11		0/11					
	Vaginal Secretions	1	0/13	0/	13	4/13		0/13					
	Skin		0/20	0/	20	0/20		0/20					
S Assault	Body Fluid		HT	13	SE	MG1	PRN	12	CYP	2B7P1			
Siriosdare	Saliva		12/	12	0	/12	0/1	2	0	/12			
	Semen		0/1	5	14	4/15	13/1	15	0	/15			
	Vaginal Secreti	ons	0/1	1	0	/11	0/1	1	10	0/11			
	Skin		0/2	0	0	/20	0/2	0	0	/20			
	Blood		0/1	2	0	/12	0/1	2	0	/12			
	Menstrual Blo	od	0/9	9	(0/9	0/9)	7	7/9			
Havenley	Dealer Fluid		UTNO		CMC		F1C	0.0	11/3	CV030701	100		
Hexaplex	Body Fluid	_	HINS	3	EIVIG		EIC	AJ	IK.	CTP2B/P1	LEF	112	
	Saliva		14/14		0/14	0,	/14	0/	14	0/14	0/3	14	
	Semen		0/14		13/14	0,	/14	0/	14	0/14	0/:	14	
	Skin		0/20		0/20	8,	20	0/	20	0/20	0/3	20	
	Blood		0/12		0/12	0	/12	11	/12	0/12	0/:	12	
	Vaginal Secretion	ns	0/14	Г	0/14	0	/14	0/	'14	11/14	0/:	14	
	Menstrual Bloo	d	0/7		0/7	3	/7	1	17	3/7	6/	7	

Table 10. Tissue Specificity – CE 10-plex Multiplex

The specificity of the CE 10-plex multiplex system was further evaluated with a panel of 18 tissue samples. The tissue samples were purchased as total RNA pools from Life Technologies. The RFU values of any detected products are included in the table. Reference samples for each body fluid (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin) are provided.

Therese	Bi	bod	Sei	men	Sa	liva	Vaginal	Men	strual	S	kin
Tissue	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LC	E1C
Trachea					1189		282	1219			
					180.31		197.99	168.29			
Kidney											
Ovary											
Adipose											
Placenta	112	244						343	141		
	113.59	134.36						168.15	127.24		
Spleen	112										
	113.58										
Liver							710				
Franhagur	-	<u> </u>			-		197.95				
Esophagus	<u> </u>							-	-		-
Small Intestine							723		-		
							197.96		5	-	
Lung							1588				
							197.97				
Colon											
Thymus											
Bladder											
Thyroid											
Cervix							S		2.		
Skeletal Muscle											
Brain											
Heart											
Blood	718	2369									
Semen	100		0333	3300		-			-	-	
Saliva	<u> </u>		5555	3330	2280	8204			1	-	
Vaginal					3203	0404	0029			222	520
Monstrual	250	1970					1057	0059	EROE	222	104
Chin	200	10/0					1937	9058	5805	-	404
SKIN								0320			0453

Table 11. Tissue Specificity, Additional Donors – CE 10-plex Multiplex

Expression of CYP2B7P1 was evaluated in an additional liver, small intestine and lung sample. These total RNA samples were obtained from Biochain and therefore are different than those used in original testing. The RFU values of any detected products are included in the table. The results from the original tissue sample is shown with the additional testing of the Biochain tissue samples provided below the original results for each tissue.

Ticcue	Blood		Ser	Semen		Saliva		Menstrual		Skin	
Tissue	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LCI	E1C
Liver							710				
Liver - Biochain											
Lung							1588				
Lung - Biochain							709				
Small Intestine							723				
Sm. Intestine - Biochain							213				

<u>Table 12.Tissue Specificity – Blood Menstrual Blood HRM Assay</u> The specificity of the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay was further evaluated with a panel of 18 tissue samples. The tissue samples were purchased as total RNA pools from Life Technologies. The Tm (°C) values of any detected products are included in the table. Reference samples for each body fluid (blood and menstrual blood) are provided.

	Blood	-Menstrual Blood (4	-plex)	
Tissue	MMP10	ANK1	ALAS2	LEFTY2
(1ng input)	82.3°C	83.0°C	86.2°C	89.2°C
Trachea	81.9			
Kidney				
Ovary				88.7
Adipose				
Placenta	81.6			88.7
Spleen		82.7		
Liver				
Esophagus				
Small Intestine				
Lung				
Colon				
Thymus				
Bladder				
Thyroid				
Cervix				
Skeletal Muscle				
Brain				
Heart				
Blood		83.1	86.2	
Menstrual Blood	82.2	83.0	86.0	89.1

<u>**Table 13. Tissue Specificity – Sexual Assault HRM Assay</u>** The specificity of the sexual assault HRM assay was further evaluated with a panel of 18 tissue</u> samples. The tissue samples were purchased as total RNA pools from Life Technologies. The Tm (°C) values of any detected products are included in the table. Reference samples for each body fluid (saliva, semen and vaginal secretions) are provided.

	Sez	ual Assault (4-p	olex)	
Tissue	HTN3	SEMG1	PRM2	CYP2B7P1
(1ng input)	76.8°C	78.6°C	84.2°C	86.7°C
Trachea				
Kidney				
Ovary				
Adipose				
Placenta				
Spleen				010
Liver				86.2
Esophagus				0(3
Small intestine				86.2
Colon				80.2
Thymus				
Bladder		78.2		
Thyroid		/0.2		
Cervix				
Skeletal Muscle				
Brain				
Heart				
Semen		78.7	84.4	
Saliva	76.7			
Vaginal				86.6

<u>**Table 14. Tissue Specificity – Hexaplex HRM Assay</u>** The specificity of the hexaplex HRM assay was further evaluated with a panel of 18 tissue</u> samples. The tissue samples were purchased as total RNA pools from Life Technologies. The Tm (°C) values of any detected products are included in the table. Reference samples for each body fluid (blood, semen, saliva, vaginal secretions, menstrual blood and skin) are provided.

		Hex	aplex (6-plex)	hi		
Tissue	HTN3	SEMG1	LCE1C	ANK1	CYP2B7P1	LEFTY2
(1ng input)	77.1°C	78.9°C	81.5°C	83.3°C	86.5°C	89.1°C
Trachea				100100		
Kidney						
Ovary						88.8
Adipose						
Placenta						88.9
Spleen				83.0		
Liver						
Esophagus						
Small Intestine						
Lung						
Colon						
Thymus						
Bladder		78.1				
Thyroid						
Cervix						
Skeletal Muscle						
Brain						
Heart						
Blood				83.4		
Semen		78.7		-		
Saliva	76.7					
Vaginal					86.5	
Menstrual				83.1		89.0
Skin			81.7			

Table 15. Species Specificity (Blood) – CE 10-plex Multiplex

Blood samples from 18 animals and 10 primates were tested to evaluate the species specificity of the blood biomarkers (ANK1, ALAS2) in the CE 10-plex, Blood-Menstrual HRM, and hexaplex HRM assays. The RFU values for any observed products (ANK1, ALAS2) are provided for the CE assays. The Tm value for any observed products (ANK1, ALAS2) are provided for the HRM assays. Positive results are highlighted in red.

Sample		(E	HRM-	BD-MB	HRM-6plex
	Sample	ANK1	ALAS2	ANK1	ALAS2	ANK1
	Alligator			á – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –		
	Duck					
	Frog					
	Mouse					
	Opposum					
	Rabbit		1238		85.1	
	Rooster	8				
	Guinea Pig					
Animal	Turtle					
Animai	Cat		592			
	Cow					
	Deer					
	Dog	-				
	Goat					
	Horse					
	Pig					
	Sheep					
	Ferret		231		-	
	Crab eating macaque	999	9043		86.0	
	Baboon	81	5106		86.0	
	Chimp	331	9027	83.0	86.1	83.3
	Spot-Nosed Guenon	7929	9176		85,6	
Drimato	Spider Monkey					
Frinate	Black Howler Monkey		3022	82.3	85.1	
	Pig tailed Macaque	.917	8911		86.0	5
	Brown Lemur					
	Rhesus Monkey					
	African Green Monkey		129			

Table 16. Species Specificity (Blood) – Additional cat and ferret samples

Additional ferret (8 additional, ferret 2-9) and cat (1 additional, cat 2) blood samples were tested to evaluate the species specificity of the blood biomarkers (ANK1, ALAS2) in the CE 10-plex, Blood-Menstrual HRM, and hexaplex HRM assays. The RFU values for any observed products (ANK1, ALAS2) are provided for the CE assays. The Tm value for any observed products (ANK1, ALAS2) are provided for the HRM assays. Positive results are highlighted in red.

	1.0.0		81	hee	Se	men	Sa	liva	Vaginal	Men	strual	Skin
	Sample	Description	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LCE1C
	ferret 1	dark eyed white		231								
	ferret 2	cinnamon							8			1 2 11
	ferret 3	chocolate		12 2					1			
CE	ferret 4	siamese	S 3	5				1	8			1 C 2
	ferret 5	sable		0.00					÷		S	
	ferret 6	albino							3			
	ferret 7	silver mitt		6								1
	ferret 8	sable blaze							5			
	ferret 9	silver										
	cat 1	?		592		_	1	1	3			
	cat 2	domestic short hair						1	1			
	Blood	positive control										
	Cample	Description		4010	ABURA	41453	ICCTVO					
	Sample	dark eved white	MIN	10	ANKI	ALAS2	LEF172					
	ferret 1	dark eyed white		-								
	ferret 2	cinnamon	-									
DD	ferret 3	chocolate		<u> </u>			-	1	Addit	iona	l terr	et and c
BD-	ferret 4	siamese	-	<u> </u>								at a d
	ferret 5	sable	-	-					Sa	impi	es te	sted –
A D	ferret 8	onidia album mitt		<u> </u>			<u> </u>			No	lator	tion
MR	ferret /	silver mitt		-			<u> </u>			NO C	letec	tion
	ferret 0	sable blaze	-	<u> </u>								
	ienet 5	Silver		<u> </u>								
	cat 1	domestic short hair		-			<u> </u>					
	Cat 2	domestic short nair	-	-	02.0	95.0						
	BIOOU	positive control			03,0	00.0		1				
	Sample	Description	н	TN3	SEMG	LCE1	CAN	K1 CY	P287P1 L	EFTY2		
	ferret 1	dark eyed white		1								
lava	ferret 2	cinnamon										
пеха	ferret 3	chocolate			1	1				_		
	ferret 4	siamese	1			1	-			_		
-	ferret 5	sable				1				_		
DIEX	ferret 6	albino	<u> </u>		<u> </u>							
U.C.N	ferret 7	silver mitt			<u> </u>	1				_		
	ferret 8	sable blaze	-		1	-				_		
	ferret 9	silver	<u> </u>	-		-				_		
	ant 1	JUVET	<u> </u>	-	-	+				_		
	cat 1	domestic short hair	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	-	-	_		_		
	Cat 2	domestic short hair	-			-				_		
	Blood	positive control			1	1	83	1.4				

Table 17. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Blood

Blood samples exposed to various temperatures and incubation times, as well as heat, light, humidity and rain (outside samples) were evaluated with the CE 10-plex and blood-menstrual blood (BD-MB) and hexaplex HRM assays. The results from each assay are provided: CE - RFU values recorded; HRM – Tm values recorded. Red cells indicate a positive blood result; grey cells indicate a negative result.

	Comula #	Commis		E	BD-M	B HRM	Hexaplex
	Sample #	Sample	ANK1	ALAS2	ANK1	ALAS2	ANK1
	1	M1 room temp 1 year	4342	5792	83.3	86.4	83.4
	2	M1 room temp 2 yr	951	153	83.3	86.4	83.5
	3	M1 37oC 1 yr	688	1825	83.3	86.4	83.4
	4	M1 37oC 2 yr	984	1086	83.4		83.5
	5	M1 56oC 1 yr	\$73	477	83.4		
	6	M1 56oC 2 yr	350				
	7	F2 room temp 1 year	1898	8215	83.2	86.3	83.4
	8	F2 room temp 2 yr		125			
	9	F2 37oC 1 yr					
	10	F2 37oC 2 yr		3		86.4	
	11	F2 56oC 1 yr	167	178		86.3	
	12	F2 56oC 2 yr	314	575	83.4	86.2	
Marcal	13	FS1 patio 1 month	9068	9077	83.1	86.3	83.4
Bicod	14	FS1 patio 2 months	3087	3969	83.2	86.3	83.5
	15	FSI patio 3 months	140	1374	83.3	86.4	
	16	FS1 patio 4 months	2754	3397	83.2	86.3	83.5
	17	SFS1 sun 1 week		1			
	18	FS1 sun 1 month					
	19	FS1 sun 2 months			ñ	-	
	20	FS1 shade 1 month					
	21	FS1 shade 2 months		1			
	22	FS1 shade 6 months					
	23	CM24 car back seat 1 week	9216	8106	83.2	86.3	83,4
	24	FM3 car back seat 1 week	9113	9125	83.1	86.3	83.4
	25	CM24 car trunk 2 weeks	8942	8999	83.2	86.4	83.4
	26	FM3 car trunk 2 weeks	8840	9017	83.1	86.3	83.4

M1, F2, FS1, CM24, FM3 are sample name designations. Patio samples were exposed to heat and humidity but protected from direct sunlight and rain. Sun samples were exposed to heat, humidity, rain and direct sunlight. Shade samples were exposed to heat, humidity and rain but mainly protected from direct sunlight.

Table 18. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Semen

Semen samples exposed to various temperatures and incubation times, as well as heat, light, humidity and rain (outside samples) were evaluated with the CE 10-plex and the sexual assault and hexaplex HRM assays. The results from each assay are provided: CE - RFU values recorded; HRM – Tm values recorded. Yellow cells indicate a positive semen result; grey cells indicate a negative result. Outside covered – exposed to heat, light, humidity; patio – exposed to heat and humidity; sun – direct sunlight, heat, humidity and rain; shade – non-direct sunlight, heat, humidity and rain.

		Committee	11	CE 10	Oplex	HRM - S	Assault.
		Samples		SEMG1	PRM2	SEMG1	PRM2
	1	M1 room temp 1 year		1448	9485	78.7	84.5
	2	M1 room temp 2 yr	II	889	9516	78.7	84.5
	3	M1 37oC 1 yr		1291	9469	78.7	84.5
	4	M1 37oC 2 yr		460	8467	78.8	84.6
	5	M1 56oC 1 yr		346	7706	78.6	84.4
	6	M1 56oC 2 yr	Π	1199	9150	78.7	84.4
	7	M2 room temp 1 year	Π	409	4156		84.4
	8	M2 room temp 2 yr		204	945		84.4
	9	M2 37oC 1 yr	II	106	913	78.9	84.5
	10	M2 37oC 2 yr	II		244	78.8	84.5
	11	M2 56oC 1 yr			45		84.5
	12	M2 56oC 2 yr		397	1932	78.8	84.6
	13	M2 outside covered 1 day	11	685	6981	78.8	84.6
	14	M2 outside covered 3 days			102		84.6
Semen	15	M2 outside covered 1 week			2604		84.6
	16	M1 outside covered 3 days		64	1342		84.6
	17	SE UV > 1 yr				78.9	84.5
	18	JSE sun 1 day		81	1453		84.5
	19	JSE sun 2 days		90	3675	78.8	84.5
	20	JSE sun 12 days					
	21	JSE sun 1 month		<u> </u>			
	22	JSE patio 1 day		704	9454	78.9	84.6
	23	JSE patio 2 days		120	1385	78.9	84.6
	24	JSE patio 12 days			267		84.7
	25	JSE patio 1 month		1	2338	78.9	84.7
	26	JSE shade 1 day		278	7973	79.0	84.6
	27	JSE shade 2 days			3197	78.8	84.5
	28	JSE shade 12 days			524	78.7	84.6
	29	JSE shade 1 month		j, ji			84.7

M1, M2 and JSE are sample name designations. Patio samples were exposed to heat and humidity but protected from direct sunlight and rain. Sun samples were exposed to heat, humidity, rain and direct sunlight. Shade samples were exposed to heat, humidity and rain but mainly protected from direct sunlight.

Table 19. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Saliva

Saliva samples exposed to various temperatures and incubation times, as well as heat, light, humidity and rain (outside samples) were evaluated with the CE 10-plex and the sexual assault and hexaplex HRM assays. The results from each assay are provided: CE – RFU values recorded; HRM – Tm values recorded. Blue cells indicate a positive saliva result; grey cells indicate a negative result. Outside covered – exposed to heat, light, humidity; outside uncovered – exposed to sunlight, heat, humidity and rain; patio – exposed to heat and humidity; sun – direct sunlight, heat, humidity and rain; shade – non-direct sunlight, heat, humidity and rain.

		Complex	CE 10	Oplex	HRM - S.Assault.		
		Samples	STATH	HTN3	HT	IN3	
	1	M2 room temp 1 year		229		77.3	
	2	M2 room temp 2 yr				77.4	
	3	M2 37oC 1 yr		1300	76.9	77.4	
	4	M2 37oC 2 yr				77.5	
	5	M2 56oC 1 yr	311		76.8	77.5	
	6	M2 56oC 2 yr	11	172		77.6	
	7	F2 room temp 1 year	314	391	76.9	77.5	
	8	F2 room temp 2 yr				77.5	
	9	F2 37oC 1 yr		237		77.8	
	10	F2 37oC 2 yr					
	11	F2 56oC 1 yr			1		
	12	F2 56oC 2 yr					
	13	M2 outside covered 1 day	Π			77.8	
Saliva	14	M2 outside uncovered 1 day					
	15	M2 outside uncovered 3 days				77.6	
	16	F2 outside covered 1 day					
	17	FS1 sun 1 day					
	18	FS1 sun 2 days					
	19	FS1 sun 1 week	00		76.5	77.8	
	20	FS1 sun 1 month				77.5	
	21	FS1 Shade 1 day	7062	9569	76.7	77.4	
	22	FS1 shade 2 days	2957	9224	76.7	77.5	
	23	FS1 shade 1 month					
	24	FS1 patio 1 day	3606	9638		77.3	
	25	FS1 patio 2 days	7098	9607	76.5	77.3	
	26	FS1 patio 1 week	3505	2281	76.5	77.2	
	27	FS1 patio 1 month					

M2, F2, and FS1 are sample name designations. Patio samples were exposed to heat and humidity but protected from direct sunlight and rain. Sun samples were exposed to heat, humidity, rain and direct sunlight. Shade samples were exposed to heat, humidity and rain but mainly protected from direct sunlight.

Table 20. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) – Vaginal secretions

Vaginal secretions samples exposed to various temperatures and incubation times, as well as heat, light, humidity and rain (outside samples) were evaluated with the CE 10-plex and the sexual assault and hexaplex HRM assays. The results from each assay are provided: CE – RFU values recorded; HRM – Tm values recorded. Green cells indicate a positive saliva result; grey cells indicate a negative result. Outside covered – exposed to heat, light, humidity; outside uncovered – exposed to sunlight, heat, humidity and rain.

S		Samples	CE 10plex CYP2B7P1	HRM Sex. Assault. CYP2B7P1	Hexaplex CYP2B7P1
	1	F1 room temp 1 year	739	86.6	86.7
	2	F1 room temp 2 yr	204		
	3	F1 37oC 1 yr	1345	86.7	86.7
	4	F1 37oC 2 yr	580		
	5	F1 56oC 1 yr			
	6	F1 56oC 2 yr			
	7	F2 room temp 1 year			
	8	F2 room temp 2 yr			
	9	F2 37oC 1 yr			
Vaginal	10	F2 37oC 2 yr			
	11	F2 56oC 1 yr			
	12	F2 56oC 2 yr			
	13	F1 outside covered 1 day	388		
	14	F2 outside covered 1 day	146		
	15	F2 outside covered 3 days			
	16	F2 outside covered 1 week			
	17	F2 outside covered 1 month			
	18	F2 outside uncovered 1 day			
	19	F2 outside uncovered 1 month			

*F1 and F2 are sample name designations. Outside covered samples were exposed to heat, light and humidity but protected from rain. Outside uncovered samples were exposed to heat, light, humidity and rain.

Table 21. Stability (Environmentally Compromised Samples) - Additional Samples

Semen and saliva samples exposed to various temperatures and incubation times, as well as heat, light, humidity and rain (outside samples) or deposited onto denim were evaluated with the CE 10-plex and blood-menstrual blood (BD-MB) and hexaplex HRM assays. The results from each assay are provided: CE - RFU values recorded; HRM – Tm values recorded. Shading indicates positive detection of body fluid biomarkers (yellow - semen and blue - saliva). Grey shading indicates no biomarker detection.

CE

Comula	Bio	Blood Semen		Saliva		Vaginal	Menstrual		Skin		
Sample	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LCI	E1C
semen outside covered 1 day			2238	96		2	10 HOH 11				
semen outside covered 7 day											
semen 37oC 3m			9268	2528	()		-	1			
semen 56oC 1m			9027	1783	-				19		
saliva outside covered 1 day											
saliva outside covered 7 day						-		1			
saliva 37oC 3m		1				82	1. I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I.I	1			
saliva 56oC 1m						1					
semen denim RT 6m			9406	232							
saliva denim RT 6m											

Additional UCF Environmental Samples

Connella	H	HTN3		PRM2	CYP287P1
Sample	76.8	77.1	78.6	84.2	86.7
semen outside covered 1 day			78.6	84.3	
semen outside covered 7 day			-		
semen 37oC 3m			78.6	84.4	
semen 56oC 1m			78.6	84.4	
saliva outside covered 1 day		77.1			
saliva outside covered 7 day		77.0			
saliva 37oC 3m	76.4	77.1			
saliva 56oC 1m			1		
semen denim RT 6m			78.6	84.4	1
saliva denim RT 6m					

Committe.	HI	HTN3		LCE1C	ANK1	CYP2B7P1	LEFTY2
Sample	76.5	77.1	78.9	81.5	83.3	86.5	89.1
semen outside covered 1 day		· · · ·	79.0	(<u> </u>	2	S	
semen outside covered 7 day		2		() (1	
semen 37oC 3m	2		79.0	· · · · ·		2	
semen 56oC 1m	5.0	1	79.0	(I		S	
saliva outside covered 1 day		77.1					
saliva outside covered 7 day		77.2					
saliva 37oC 3m	76.6	77.2					
saliva 56oC 1m		2		82.0		S	
semen denim RT 6m		1 1	78.9			20 - D	
saliva denim RT 6m	0.00	77.1		6		e	

Hexa plex

48

Table 22.Detection of Vaginal Secretions in Female Reproductive Cycles - CE 10plex

Vaginal swabs were collected each day during a 28-day (left) or a 25-day (middle) reproductive cycle from two menstruating female donors, with day 1 as the start of menstruation. Menstruation was reported to be on days 1-4 (day 4 light menstruation was reported). Vaginal swabs were collected each day during a 28-day period from a menopausal female donor (right). The samples were analyzed using the CE 10-plex multiplex assay. RFU values of CYP2B7P1 (vaginal), MMP10 and LEFTY2 (menstrual blood), if detected, are shown. Green and pink shading represents detection of the biomarker. Grey and white cells represent no detection.

Day of	Menstruation	Vaginal	Menstrual	
Cycle	reported?	CYP287P1	MMP10	LEFTY2
1	yes	447		1
2	yes	5	2829	221
3	yes	327	9055	848
4	yes (light)			
5	no	573		
6	no	122	161	
7	no			
8	no			
9	no	÷		ų.
10	no	225	77	
11	no	1131		ų.
12	no	547		
13	no	844		
14	no	2369		
15	no	2427		
16	no	689		
17	no	800		
18	no	686		<u>.</u>
19	no	2648		
20	no			-
21	no	4648		
22	no	2213		
23	no	633		
24	no	376		
25	no	2542	3	
26	no	1131		
27	no	8901		20 27
28	no	9012		

Day of	Menstruation	Vaginal	Mens	trual
Cycle	reported?	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2
1	yes	1195	9102	7506
2	yes	5652	5788	254
3	yes	3424	903	
4	yes (light)	9072	5216	103
5	no	9124	3421	
6	no	9075	2553	
7	no	218		
8	no	8865		
9	no	2966		
10	no	596		
11	no	769		
12	no	439		
13	no		2	
14	no			
15	no	8764		
16	no			
17	no	9084		
18	no	8297		
19	no	9097		
20	no	9093		
21	no	9078	1	
22	no	9085	1	
23	no	8839		
24	no	8848		
25	no	418		

Donor 2 - menstruating

Day of	Vaginal	Mens	trual
Cycle	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2
1	8857		
2	9102		
3	1479		[]
4	8882		
5	8859		
6	9097		
7	9178		
8	9007		
9	121		
10	3621		
11	4025		
12	9092		
13	8166		
14	7119		
15	9109		
16	9093		
17	7811		
18	9099		
19	9041		
20	9088		
21	1623		
22	1998	14	
23	9111		
24	7937		
25	8453		
26	8300		
27	8834		
28	8847		

Donor 1 - menstruating

Donor 3 - menopausal

Table 23. Detection of Menstrual Blood in Female Reproductive Cycles (Menstruating Females) - Blood Menstrual Blood HRM

Vaginal swabs were collected each day during a 28-day (left) or a 25-day (right) reproductive cycle, with day 1 as the start of menstruation. Menstruation was reported to be on days 1-4 (day 4 light menstruation was reported). The samples were analyzed using the blood-menstrual blood HRM assays. Tm (°C) values of detected biomarkers (and DNA) are recorded. Pink shading represents detection of a menstrual blood biomarker. Red shading represents detection of a blood biomarker. Grey cells represent no detection.

Day of cycle	Menstrual blood reported?	MMP1	0 ANKE	ALAS2	LEFTY2
1	yes			2 1	
2	yes	81.9	88:5	0	89.0
3	yes	81.9			89.0
4	yes (light)				2 1
5	no	-		0 -	N
6	no				8
7	no		4	2	
8	no			0	3. J
9	no				
10	no				
11	no				
12	no				
13	no				
14	no				
15	no				
16	no				ũ –
17	no			9	
18	no				
19	no				
20	no			8	
21	no				
22	no				
23	no				
24	no				2
25	no				1
26	no				
27	no				50
28	no				N 1

Day of cycle	Menstrual blood reported?	DM	IA	MN	1P10	ANKS	ALAS2	LEFTY2
1	yes				82.0			88.9
2	yes				82.0			88.9
3	yes				82.2			
4	yes (light)				82.2			
5	no	78.9	80.3		82.3	83.1		
6	no	78.5	80.3		82.2			
7	no	79.0	80.4			2		
8	no	79.0	80.4					
9	no	79.0	80.4	3		1		3
10	no	79.0	80.4					3
11	no	79.1	80.6					1 B
12	no							1. 1
13	no	79.1	80.6			Q 3		8
14	no	79.2	80.6					
15	no	79.0	80.4				1	
16	no	79.1						1
17	no	79.0	80.5					-
18	no	78.9	80.5					
19	no	78.9	80.5					
20	no	78.8	80.5					
21	no	79.0	80.5					1
22	no	79.0	80.5			0		
23	no	79.0	80.4			0		1
24	no	79.0	80.4					
25	no	79.0	80.4					

<u>Table 24. Detection of Vaginal Secretions in Female Reproductive Cycles - Sexual Assault</u> <u>HRM</u>

Vaginal swabs were collected each day during a 28-day (left) or a 25-day (middle) reproductive cycle from two menstruating female donors, with day 1 as the start of menstruation. Menstruation was reported to be on days 1-4 (day 4 light menstruation was reported). Vaginal swabs were collected each day during a 28-day period from a menopausal female donor (right). The samples were analyzed using the sexual assault HRM assay. Tm (°C) values of CYP2B7P1 (vaginal) if detected are shown. Green shading represents detection of the biomarker. Grey cells represent no detection.

Day of cycle	Menstrual blood reported?	CYP2B7P1	Day of cycle	Menstrual blood reported?	CYP2B7P1	Donor	Day of cycle	CYP2B7P1
1	yes	86.3	1	yes	86.5		1	86.5
2	yes		2	yes	86.4		2	86.4
3	yes	86.3	3	yes	86.5		3	86.4
4	yes (light)	-	4	yes (light)	86.4		4	86.4
5	no	86.4	5	no	86.4		5	86.4
6	no		6	no	86.4		6	86.5
7	no		7	no			7	86.4
8	no	3	8	no	86.4		8	86.4
9	no		9	no	86.5		9	
10	no	86.3	10	no	86.4		10	
11	no	86.3	11	no	86.5		11	86.5
12	no	86.4	12	no			12	86.4
13	no	86.4	13	no			13	86.4
14	no	86.4	14	no		Donor	14	86.5
15	no	86.4	15	no	86.4	FM3	15	86.4
16	no	86.4	16	no			16	86.3
17	no	86.4	17	no	86.4		17	86.4
18	no	86.3	18	no	86.4		18	86.4
19	no	86,3	19	no	86.4		19	86.4
20	no		20	no	86.3		20	86.4
21	no	86.5	21	no	86.4		21	86.5
22	no	86.4	22	no	86.3		22	86.4
23	no	86.5	23	no	86.4		23	86.4
24	no		24	no	86.4		24	86.4
25	no	86.5	25	no			25	86.4
26	no	86.4					26	86.5
27	no	86.4					27	86.5
28	no	86.4				l3	28	

Table 25. Detection of Body Fluids in Two Fluid Admixtures (CE-10plex)

Two donor (fluid) admixtures were created by placing varying volumes (50, 25, 10 and 5µl) of a second liquid body fluid on top of a dried stain. The dried component is listed first in each mixture with the liquid component listed second. The presence of biomarkers for each of the body fluids is represented by a "+" symbol. Two "+" signs indicate the presence of both biomarkers for that body fluid: blood – ANK1, ALAS2; semen – PRM2, SEMG1; saliva – STATH, HTN3; menstrual blood – MMP10, LEFTY2. Only one biomarker is present in the multiplex for vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) and skin (LCE1C) and therefore only one "+" is possible. A "-" indicates the failure to detect biomarkers for the body fluid. The "+" and "-" are only listed for the body fluids in which a positive result was expected.

Mixture	Vol (µl)	Blood	Semen	Saliva	Vaginal	Menstrual	Skin
	liquid						
BD-SE	50	++	+-				
	25	++	+-				
	10	++	++				
	5	++	+-				
BD-SA	50	++		++			
	25	++		++			
	10	++		++			
	5	++		++			
SA-SE	50		+-				
	25		+-	-+			
	10		+-				
	5		+-	-+			
VS-SE	50		++		+		
	25				+		
	10		+-		+		
	5		+-		+		
MB-SE	50						
	25		+-			+-	
	10		+-			++	
	5	-+	++			++	
VS-SA	50				+		
	25				+		
	10				+		
	5				+		
MB-SA	50	-+			+	++	
	25	-+			+	+-	
	10	-+		++	+	++	
	5	-+			+	++	

<u>Table 26. Analysis of Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid Samples (Blood-Menstrual Blood</u> <u>HRM Assay)</u>

For each mixture, the first body fluid listed was a dried stain to which the second body fluid (underlined) in liquid form was placed on the dried stain thus creating admixed body fluid samples. For the dried stains, blood samples were 50µl bloodstains and for all other body fluids $\frac{1}{2}$ swabs were used. For the liquid body fluid added, we evaluated four different volumes (50µl, 25µl, 10µl and 5µl). Tm (°C) values of detected biomarkers are recorded. Pink shading represents detection of a menstrual blood biomarker. Red shading represents detection of a blood biomarker. Grey cells represent no detection.

Mixture	Vol(µl) - <mark>liq</mark> uid	MN	IP10	ANK1	ALAS2	LEFTY2
	50			83.0	86.1	
	25			83.0	86.1	
BD- <u>SE</u>	10			82.9	86.1	
	5			82.9	86.1	
	50			83.0	86.2	
BD.SA	25			83.0	86.2	
BU- <u>SA</u>	10			83.0	86.3	1
	5			83.0	86.1	
	50					
SA SE	25					
5A- <u>5E</u>	10					Į.
	5					
1	50					1
VC.SE	25					<u>(</u>
V3- <u>3E</u>	10					
	5					
	50	3				
MR.CE	25	81.7	82.2			í.
WID-SE	10	81.6	82.0		3	89.1
	5	81.5	82.0	83.0	1	89.1
	50					20
VECA	25					
VS- <u>SA</u>	10		81.1			1
	5				1	4
	50		82.1			89.1
MR.SA	25*		82.0	0		89.0
WID-3A	10	81.9				89.1
	5	81.8		82.9		89.0

BD = blood, SE = semen, SA = saliva; VS = vaginal secretions; MB = menstrual blood; SK = skin

** present, but below threshold

Table 27. Analysis of Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid Samples (Sexual Assault HRM Assay)

For each mixture, the first body fluid listed was a dried stain to which the second body fluid (underlined) in liquid form was placed on the dried stain thus creating admixed body fluid samples. For the dried stains, blood samples were 50µl bloodstains and for all other body fluids $\frac{1}{2}$ swabs were used. For the liquid body fluid added, we evaluated four different volumes (50µl, 25µl, 10µl and 5µl). Tm (°C) values of detected biomarkers (and DNA) are recorded. Blue shading represents detection of saliva (HTN3). Yellow shading represents detection of semen (SEMG1, PRM2). Green shading represents detection of vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1). White cells represent no detection. Grey cells represent no detection in samples where that biomarker would have been expected.

Mixture	Vol(µl) - liquid	нт	N3	SEMG1	PRM2	CYP2B7P1
	50	-		78.5	84.2	
PD CE	25			78.6	84.3	
DD-3E	10			78.6	84.3	
	5			78.5	84.2	
	50	76.2	76.9			
PD CA	25	76.3	77.0			
BU- <u>SA</u>	10	76.2	77.0			
	5	76.2	76.9			
	50				84.2	
CA CE	25		76.9		84.3	
SA-SE	10				84.3	l l
	5		77.0		84.3	
	50			78.5	84.2	86.5
VC CE	25*			78.0	84.3	
V3- <u>3E</u>	10			78.6	84.2	86.5
	5	2		6	84.2	86.5
	50					
MAR CE	25			78.5	84.2	
IVID-SE	10			78.5	84.2	
	5			78.5	84.2	
	50		76.9			86.4
VICCA	25		76.6			86.3
VS- <u>SA</u>	10					86.4
	5					86.3
	50		76.6		84.2	86.4
MADICA	25		76.5		3	86.4
WIB-SA	10		76.7			86.5
	5		76.5			86.3

BD = blood, SE = semen, SA = saliva; VS = vaginal secretions; MB = menstrual blood; SK = skin

*VS-SE-25 – low, broad peaks at SEMG1 and CYP2B7P1 but below the 0.2 threshold used.

Table 28.Detection of Body Fluids in Two Fluid Admixtures (Hexplex HRM Assay)

Two donor (fluid) admixtures were created by placing varying volumes (50, 25, 10 and 5 μ l) of a second liquid body fluid on top of a dried stain. The dried component is listed first in each mixture with the liquid component listed second. The presence of biomarkers for each of the body fluids is represented by a "+" symbol. A "-" indicates a failure to detect the biomarker for the body fluid. The "+" and "-" are only listed for the body fluids in which a positive result was expected.

Mixture	Vol (µl)	Saliva	Semen	Skin	Blood	Vaginal	Menstrual
	liquid	HTN3	SEMG1	LCE1C	ANK1	CYP2B7P1	LEFTY2
BD-SE	50		+		+		
	25		+		+		
	10		+		+		
	5		+		+		
BD-SA	50	+			+		
	25	+			+		
	10	+			+		
	5	+			+		
SA-SE	50	-	-				
	25	+	+				
	10	-	-				
	5	+	+				
VS-SE	50		+			-	
	25		-			-	
	10		+			-	
	5		-			-	
MB-SE	50		-				-
	25		+				-
	10		+				+
	5		+				+
VS-SA	50	+				+	
	25	+				+	
	10	-				+	
	5	-				+	
MB-SA	50	+					+
	25	+					-
	10	+					+
	5	+					+

Table 29. Detection of Body Fluids in Vaginal-Semen Admixed Samples

Vaginal secretions-semen admixed samples were prepared by adding 25, 10, 5 and 1µl of liquid semen to $\frac{1}{4}$ dried vaginal swabs. Three different donor sets were used (no overlapping donors between sets). One of the semen donors (SE4vs) was from a vasectomized male. The results of the CE 10plex and HRM sexual assault and hexaplex assays are shown. For CE results, RFU values are provided. For HRM results, Tm values (°C) are provided. Colors indicate positive results: green – vaginal secretions, yellow – semen. Grey cells indicate negative results or no detection of the biomarker. VS = vaginal secretions, SE = semen.

Comula	81	bod	Ser	men	Sali	va	Vaginal	Mens	trual	9	in
Sample	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP287P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	L	CEIC
VS24-SE4vs-25											
VS24-SE4vs-10			2				8505		()	443	
VS24-SE4vs-5							6023				
VS24-SE4vs-1				2 S.				1		10	1
VS4-SE22-25			9329	513				170			
VS4-SE22-10			4538	204							
VS4-SE22-5			2765	87			800				
VS4-SE22-1			150				201	(
VS2-SE9-25			1132	147			1114				
VS2-SE9-10			116	231	4		1477				
VS2-SE9-5			72		1		1104				
VS2-SE9-1			×				579				

CE

Se	ex-
p	ex

Sample	HTN3	SEMG1	PRM2	CYP2B7P1
VS24-SE4vs-25		78.7		86.5
VS24-SE4vs-10		78.7		86.5
VS24-SE4vs-5		78.6		86.5
VS24-SE4vs-1				
VS4-SE22-25		78.7	84.3	
VS4-SE22-10		78.5	84.2	86.5
VS4-SE22-5		78.6	84.3	86.6
VS4-SE22-1		78.7	84.3	86.6
VS2-SE9-25		78.8	84.3	86.7
VS2-SE9-10		78.7	84.3	86.6
VS2-SE9-5			84.4	86.7
VS2-SE9-1			84.4	86.7

- ¼ vaginal swab
- Liquid semen added 25, 10, 5, 1µl
- Co-extracted

Table 30. Identification of Skin in Touch DNA Samples (CE 10-plex)

100 touch DNA samples (twenty samples from five different donors) were extracted with the AllPrep Micro DNA/RNA co-extraction kit. The ability to identify skin in the touch DNA samples was evaluated using the CE 10-plex system with slightly modified conditions (35 amplification cycles (from 33) and 2 μ l cDNA (from 1 μ l)). The results from CE and HRM (hexaplex) analysis are shown. RFU values are listed for CE results and Tm values (°C) are listed for HRM results. Peach cells indicate positive skin detection and grey cells indicate negative results (no skin detection).

Sample	T (fen	1 nale)	T (ma	2 ale)	(fen	13 nale)	T (fem	4 nale)	T (fen	75 nale)
	CE	HRM	CE	HRM	CE	HRM	CE	HRM	CE	HRM
cup		81.8		81.5	8.	81.6			556	
water/drink bottle	804		106					81.7		
computer mouse	686						280	82.0		81.9
door handle/knob	385				459	81.9	312		216	1
cell phone			1453	81.6	260		495	81.9	2106	
pen										
keyboard	549	81.8		81.7	178		1368	82.0	1	
headphones	1026	81.7								L. J.
phone	267		148	81.6	346	81.6				82.1
key	223					81.9	139			
steering wheel			3038	81.8			182		343	81.9
refrigerator door handle	689		143	9	211	81.3			1666	81.8
microwave buttons			483		250	81.8				81.8
backpack/purse strap	126	81.7	2643	81.8						81.5
hair brush handle		81.9			1784	81.7	394	82.1	1021	81.5
tv remote	283							81.8		
silverware	91							81.6		81.5
tooth brush handle	116	81.9			336	81.7				81.9
fingers	274	81.9			1199	81.6		81.5	254	81.8
arm				81.2		81.9	692	82.0	1	81.4
										10
	Т	1	Т	2	T	3	Т	4	T	5
Success rate (by donor)	CE	HRM	CE	HRM	CE	HRM	CE	HRM	CE	HRM
N=20	13/20	7/20	7/20	7/20	9/20	10/20	8/20	9/20	7/20	11/20
	65%	35%	35%	35%	45%	50%	40%	45%	35%	55%

Overall	CE	HRM	
(N=100)	44%	44%	

Table 31. DNA and RNA Analysis of 100 Touch DNA Samples

100 touch DNA samples (twenty samples from five different donors) were extracted with the AllPrep Micro DNA/RNA co-extraction kit. The results from CE and HRM (hexaplex) analysis are shown. RFU values are listed for CE results and Tm values (°C) are listed for HRM results. Peach cells indicate positive skin detection and grey cells indicate negative results (no skin detection). The number of alleles observed in the DNA profiles for each of the touch samples is also shown. The single source or admixed nature of the profile is also indicated for each sample.

	T1 (female)							
Sample	RNA	- skin	D	NA				
	CE	HRM	# alleles	mixture?				
cup		+	30	no				
water/drink bottle	•		30	no				
computer mouse	•		30	no				
door handle/knob	+		5	no				
cell phone	-	141	30	no				
pen			30	no				
keyboard	+	+	30	no				
headphones	+	+	30	no				
phone	+	-	30	no				
key	+		18	no				
steering wheel			29	no				
refrigerator door handle	+		11	no				
microwave buttons		6	2	no				
backpack/purse strap	+	•	29	no				
hair brush handle	÷		28	no				
tv remote	+		30	no				
silverware			30	no				
tooth brush handle		+	28	no				
fingers	+		21	no				
arm	1.4	(a)	22	no				

		T3 (f	emale)	
Sample	RNA	- skin	D	NA
	CE	HRM	# alleles	mixture?
cup		+	3	no
water/drink bottle			0	no
computer mouse			30	no
door handle/knob		•	30	no
cell phone	+	0.42	30	no
pen	16	· · ·	15	no
keyboard	+	-	12	no
headphones		1.40	1	no
phone	+	+	43	yes
key			11	no
steering wheel			1	no
refrigerator door handle	+	•	1	no
microwave buttons	+	+	20	no
backpack/purse strap			13	no
hair brush handle			0	no
tv remote			1	no
silverware			13	no
tooth brush handle	+	+	30	no
fingers	•		12	no
arm		+	30	no

	T5 (female)							
Sample	RNA	- skin	DI	NA				
	CE	HRM	# alleles	mixture?				
cup	+	-	37	yes				
water/drink bottle			30	no				
computer mouse	4	+	0	00				
door handle/knob	+	1.00	30	no				
cell phone	+		30	no				
pen	14		13	no				
keyboard	-	-	40	yes				
headphones		2 .	28	no				
phone		+	31	yes				
key			0	no				
steering wheel	+	+	11	no				
refrigerator door handle	+	+	23	yes				
microwave buttons	1	+	18	no				
backpack/purse strap		+	27	10				
hair brush handle	+	+	6	no				
tv remote	1.4	-	29	no				
silverware		+	30	no				
tooth brush handle		+	29	no				
fingers	+	+	30	no				
arm	2	+	5	no				

the second s				
Sample	RNA	- skin	D	NA
	CE	HRM	# alleles	mixture?
cup		+	20	no
water/drink bottle	+		0	no
computer mouse		2. 14	12	no
door handle/knob		-	3	no
cell phone	+		6	no
pen	-	4.	1	no
keyboard		+	23	yes
headphones		-	0	no
phone	+	+	1	no
key	-	1	22	no
steering wheel	+	+	1	no
refrigerator door handle	+		30	no
microwave buttons	+		10	no
backpack/purse strap	+	+	2	no
hair brush handle			0	no
tv remote			0	no
silverware		5 141	28	no
tooth brush handle	-		0	no
fingers	+	11 145	28	yes
arm	12	+	10	no

	T4 (female)							
Sample	RNA	- skin	D	NA				
	CE	HRM	# alleles	mixture?				
cup	14	-	0	no				
water/drink bottle	1.4	+	4	no				
computer mouse	+	+	37	yes				
door handle/knob	+		29	yes				
cell phone	+	+	21	?				
pen			10	no				
keyboard	+	+	31	yes				
headphones	12		18	no				
phone			23	no				
key	+		9	no				
steering wheel	+		29	no				
refrigerator door handle			8	no				
microwave buttons	12	100	0	no				
backpack/purse strap	-	1. 192	28	no				
hair brush handle	+	+	20	no				
tv remote		+	30	no.				
silverware		+	0	no				
tooth brush handle			30	no				
fingers	1.00	+	24	yes				
arm	+	+	14	no				

no	ŧ.,	а	0	to	C	hat	
110	.	u	c	ce	5	leu	

> 30 alleles (mixture)	
full profile (30/30)	
probative (21-29/30)	
pederate probative (15-20/	
5-14 alleles/30	
1-4 allele	
0 alleles	

Table 32. Summary of the EDNAP Collaborative Studies on RNA Profiling Assays for Body Fluid Identification

The body fluid or	tissue of interest fo	r each of the six	EDNAP st	udies is indicated.
-------------------	-----------------------	-------------------	----------	---------------------

Exercise	Subject
1	Blood
2	Blood
3a/b	Semen/Saliva
4	Menstrual, Housekeeping
5	Vaginal
6	Skin (touch)

<u>Table 33.Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples – CE 10-plex</u>

Mock casework samples from three collaborative EDNAP mRNA profiling exercises were tested to determine if the body fluid of origin could be detected using the CE 10-plex system. Descriptions of each sample are provided, as well as the input (ng) amount of total RNA used in the RT reaction. If a biomarker was detected, the RFU value is recorded. Colored cells indicate positive results for each body fluid: red – blood, yellow – semen, blue – saliva, green – vaginal secretions, peach – skin.

	Sample	Blood		Sen	nen	Saliva		a Vaginal		inal Menstrual		Skin	
	Sample	ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP287P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LCE	1C	
	2ul semen on swab			2854	366								
	3ul of human blood on swab	1499	6230										
F3-	3ul saliva on recycling tissue	1		ý			153						
LJ-	5ul azospermic semen on swab				1784								
SE/SA	Sul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab			689	170	249	727	2					
02,011	1/4 chewed chewing gum						-						
	1/4 buccal swab (dog)					_	a-			J			
	1/4 buccal swab				Q	1382	2780			1	0.00		
	3ul semen on white textile		(99						1			
	5ul saliva on pad					112	522	1					
	5ul saliva on paper				· · · · · ·					S			
	3ul azospermic semen on pad				227		1						
	1/4 vaginal swab			10 E				8309			1991	3247	
F3-	Sul saliva on glass slide	1		D			S						
23	2ul semen on toilet paper			8						6	C		
SE/SA	5ul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab				1 5	121	83						
,	1/4 buccal swab (cat)							2					
	2ul saliva on swab/1ul blood	493	1641			113	1						
	licked plastic spoon						95				154		
	3ul semen inside latex glove				1			10					
	1/4 vaginal swab (2 yrs old)						1	9201			786	2270	
	5x5 mm from white worn underpant (fresh)							280		0	708	1294	
E5 _\/S	1/2 swab urine							200					
LJ -VJ	1/2 swab vaginal, pregnant (fresh)			0			i. (9037				1896	
	1/4 vaginal swab (5 yrs old)			î l				3313	1			905	
1	1/2 vaginal swab (fresh)							4776			232	457	
	1/2 buccal swab (fresh)					461	928						
	5x5mm sanitary towel (fresh)											488	

Unknown samples from EDNAP 3/5 studies

<u>Table 34. Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples –</u> <u>Blood-Menstrual Blood Assay</u>

Mock casework samples from three collaborative EDNAP mRNA profiling exercises were tested to determine if the body fluid of origin could be detected using the Blood-menstrual blood HRM assay. Descriptions of each sample are provided. If a biomarker was detected, the Tm value is recorded. Colored cells indicate positive results for each body fluid: red – blood. White cells indicate no result obtained (no peak detected).

		MN	1P10	ANK1	ALAS2	LEFTY2
	Sample	81.8	82.3	83.0	86.2	89.2
	2ul semen on swab					
	3ul of human blood on swab			83.3	86.5	
	3ul saliva on recycling tissue				· · · · · ·	
E3-	5ul azospermic semen on swab					
LJ-	5ul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab					
SE/SA	1/4 chewed chewing gum					
	1/4 buccal swab (dog)					
	1/4 buccal swab					
	3ul semen on white textile					
	5ul saliva on pad					
	5ul saliva on paper					
	3ul azospermic semen on pad					
1. La	1/4 vaginal swab			83.5		
E3-	5ul saliva on glass slide					
	2ul semen on toilet paper					
SE/SA	5ul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab					
	1/4 buccal swab (cat)					
	2ul saliva on swab/1ul blood			83.4	86.5	() (i
	licked plastic spoon					
	3ul semen inside latex glove				-	
	1/4 vaginal swab (2 yrs old)					
E5 -VS	5x5 mm from white worn underpant (fresh)					
	1/2 swab urine					
	1/2 swab vaginal, pregnant (fresh)					
	1/4 vaginal swab (5 yrs old)					
	1/2 vaginal swab (fresh)					
	1/2 buccal swab (fresh)					
	5x5mm sanitary towel (fresh)					

<u>Table 35. Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples –</u> <u>Sexual Assault HRM Assay</u>

Mock casework samples from three collaborative EDNAP mRNA profiling exercises were tested to determine if the body fluid of origin could be detected using the sexual assault assay. Descriptions of each sample are provided. If a biomarker was detected, the Tm value is recorded. Colored cells indicate positive results for each body fluid: blue – saliva, yellow – semen, green – vaginal secretions. White cells indicate no result obtained (no peak detected). Grey cells indicate a negative result for biomarkers that were expected to be present given the origin of the sample.

	Counts	HT	TN3	SEMG1	PRM2	CYP2B7P1
	Sample	76.8	77.1	78.6	84.2	86.7
	2ul semen on swab			78.6	84.3	
	3ul of human blood on swab	_				
255040	3ul saliva on recycling tissue		77.1			
E3-	5ul azospermic semen on swab			78.5		
ES- SE/SA	5ul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab	76.8		76.7	84.4	
	1/4 chewed chewing gum		1			
	1/4 buccal swab (dog)				-	
	1/4 buccal swab		77.0			
	3ul semen on white textile			S	84.5	
	5ul saliva on pad		77.2			
	5ul saliva on paper	2				
F3-	3ul azospermic semen on pad			79.0		
	1/4 vaginal swab			· · · · ·		86.6
LJ-	5ul saliva on glass slide					
SE/SA	2ul semen on toilet paper		·	I		
	5ul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab	76.9		78.8	84.0	
	1/4 buccal swab (cat)					
	2ul saliva on swab/1ul blood	1				
	licked plastic spoon		77.2	2 1		
	3ul semen inside latex glove				84.6	
	1/4 vaginal swab (2 yrs old)			-		86.5
	5x5 mm from white worn underpant (fresh)					
E5 -VS	1/2 swab urine					
	1/2 swab vaginal, pregnant (fresh)					86.6
	1/4 vaginal swab (5 yrs old)			-		86.5
	1/2 vaginal swab (fresh)					86.6
	1/2 buccal swab (fresh)	76.9		1		
	5x5mm sanitary towel (fresh)					

<u>Table 36. Detection of the Body Fluid/Tissue Source of Origin of Mock Casework samples –</u> <u>Hexaplex HRM Assay</u>

Mock casework samples from three collaborative EDNAP mRNA profiling exercises were tested to determine if the body fluid of origin could be detected using the hexaplex assay. Descriptions of each sample are provided. If a biomarker was detected, the Tm value is recorded. Colored cells indicate positive results for each body fluid: red – blood, blue – saliva, yellow – semen, green – vaginal secretions. White cells indicate no result obtained (no peak detected). Grey cells indicate a negative result for biomarkers that were expected to be present given the origin of the sample.

1	Samula	H	rn3	SEMG1	LCE1C	ANK1	CYP2B7P1	LEFTY2
	Sample	76.5	77.1	78.9	81.5	83.3	86.5	89.1
	2ul semen on swab			79.0				
	3ul of human blood on swab					83.5		
	3ul saliva on recycling tissue		77.2					
E3-	5ul azospermic semen on swab			79.0				
CE/CA	Sul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab		77.1	78.1				
SE/SA	1/4 chewed chewing gum							
	1/4 buccal swab (dog)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
	1/4 buccal swab		77.1					
	3ul semen on white textile							
	5ul saliva on pad		77.2					
I	5ul saliva on paper		2					
	3ul azospermic semen on pad			79.0				
	1/4 vaginal swab			1	81.9		86.8	
E3-	5ul saliva on glass slide							
CE/CA	2ul semen on toilet paper							
SE/SA	5ul saliva/1ul semen mix on swab	1	77.1	79.1				
	1/4 buccal swab (cat)							
	2ul saliva on swab/1ul blood	76.3				83.7		
	licked plastic spoon		77.5					
	3ul semen inside latex glove)
I	1/4 vaginal swab (2 yrs old)				81.7		86.5	
	5x5 mm from white worn underpant (fresh)				81.9			
E3-V3	1/2 swab urine						12-11-11-11	
	1/2 swab vaginal, pregnant (fresh)						86.6	
	1/4 vaginal swab (5 yrs old)				81.6			
	1/2 vaginal swab (fresh)						0	
	1/2 buccal swab (fresh)	76.8	I.		82.0			
	5x5mm sanitary towel (fresh)				81.9			

Table 37. CE 10-plex Assay Reproducibility

To evaluate the reproducibility in the base pair size of each biomarker, cDNA (RTs) from three or four donors (four only in the case of skin; two skin tissue total RNA samples and two touch DNA samples) were analyzed five times each. All replicates were amplified at the same time. The average base pair size and standard deviation for each donor is shown as well as the overall averages for each biomarker (all replicates together). Semen donor 3 is a vasectomized male and therefore only SEMG1 was detected. NT = not tested.

Donor		Blood		Sei	Semen		Saliva		Men	strual	Skin	
		ANK1	ALAS2	PRM2	SEMG1	STATH	HTN3	CYP2B7P1	MMP10	LEFTY2	LCI	E1C
Donor 1	Average	113.6	134.3	91.6	86.1	180.3	225.1	198.0	168.1	127.3	60.6	62.6
DOIIOI 1	Std Dev	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1
Donor 2	Average	113.6	134.3	91.5	86.1	180.2	225.1	198.0	168.1	127.3	60.6	62.6
DONOT 2	Std Dev	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0
Donor 3	Average	113.7	134.3		86.2	180.2	225.1	198.0	168.1	127.3	60.7	62.7
	Std Dev	0.0	0.1		0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0
Donor A	Average	NT	NT	NT	NT	NT	NT	NT	NT	NT	60.7	62.7
DOII01 4	Std Dev										0.1	0.0
Overall	Average	113.7	134.3	91.5	86.1	180.2	225.1	198.0	168.1	127.3	60.6	62.6
Overall	Std Dev	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0

Table 38. HRM Assay Reproducibility

To assess reproducibility, five replicates each of three donors were evaluated (all replicates taken from the same RT). The average Tm value and standard deviation (st. dev) for each donor (average of five replicates) was calculated. An overall biomarker average Tm (and standard deviation) was also calculated (shown at bottom) (average of all 15 samples (3 donors x 5 replicates). Tm (°C) values of detected biomarkers are recorded. Colored shading highlights the average Tm for each biomarker.

Donor		MMP10		ANKI	ALAS2	LEFTY2
Desce 1	Average		81.9	83.1	86.2	89.0
Donor 1	St. Dev		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0
0	Average		82.1	83.0	86.1	89.0
Donor 2	St. Dev		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Dence 2	Average	81.5	82.0	83.1	86.2	89.0
Donor 3	St. Dev	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0
0	Average	81.5	82.0	83.1	86.2	89.0
Overall	St. Dev	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0

Donor HTN3 SEMG1 PRM2 CYP2B7P1 Average 77.1 78.5 84.3 86.6 Donor 1 Std Dev 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 77.1 78.9 84.6 86.5 Average Donor 2 0.1 0.0 Std Dev 0.1 0.0 76.9 78.6 84.3 86.6 Average Donor 3 Std Dev 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 NT 78.6 NT Average --Donor 4 Std Dev 0.1 Average 77.0 78.7 84.4 Overall Std Dev 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1

Sexual Assault

Blood-Menstrual

Donor		HTN3	SEMG1	LCE1C	ANK1	CYP2B7P1	LEFTY2	
Donor 1	Average	76.6	78.5	81.9	83.0	86.3	88.9	
DOHOTI	Std Dev	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	
Dencel	Average	76.6	78.5	81.7	83.1	86.4	89.0	
Donor 2	Std Dev	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	
Donor 3	Average	76.9	78.6	81.7	83.3	86.4	89.0	
	Std Dev	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	
Quant	Average	76.7	78.5	81.7	83.1	86.4	89.0	
Overall	Std Dev	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	

Hexaplex

VIII. FIGURES

Figure 1. QIACube Rotor Adaptor Set-Up For AllPrep DNA/RNA Co-Extraction

For DNA isolation (left), the elution tube is placed into the position 3 (lid into the L3 position) of the rotor adaptor (shown in images on the left). The lid to the AllPrep DNA spin column is removed and the column is placed into position 2 (shown in images on the left). Following DNA isolation, the same rotor adaptor is used for RNA isolation with the flow-through from the DNA isolation serving as the sample for the subsequent RNA steps. The elution tube is again placed into position 3 (lid into the L3 position) and the RNAeasy[®] MinElute[®] spin column is placed into position 1 (lid into position L1).







Figure 3. CE 10-plex multiplex.

The design of the CE 10-plex multiplex system is shown. The colored squares represent biomarker location within the multiplex. The size of the box is not representative of the size range for the amplification products as only a single peak is obtained for each biomarker. The boxes are sized to fit the text accordingly. The expected base pair (bp) size of each product is listed below each biomarker. LIZ-500 is used as the size standard for this multiplex.



LIZ Size Standard

Figure 4. Representative Electropherograms for Body Fluids and Tissues Using the CE 10plex.

Representative electropherograms for each of the target body fluids and tissues in the CE 10-plex are shown: blood (ANK1, ALAS2), semen (PRM2, SEMG1), saliva (STATH, HTN3), vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1), menstrual blood (MMP10, LEFTY2) and skin (LCE1C). For menstrual blood, blood and vaginal secretions biomarkers may also be present as these body fluids are present in menstrual blood. Grey boxes represent biomarker bins. X-axis: size in base pairs (bp); Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).


Figure 5. DNA Amplification Products in the CE 10-plex

Several DNA amplification products are observed within the analysis window of the CE10-plex. These products are due to the presence of smaller introns. They do not interfere with biomarker analysis. The location of the DNA products on the FAM (two products) and the VIC (one product) channels are shown. Their location relative to the other body fluid and tissue biomarkers are shown. X-axis: size in base pairs (bp); Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).



Figure 6. Blood-Menstrual Blood HRM Assay

The blood-menstrual blood HRM assays contains two biomarkers each for the identification of blood (ANK1, ALAS2) and menstrual blood (MMP10, LEFTY2). Single source blood (red) and menstrual blood (pink) samples are shown overlaid to indicate relative locations of the biomarkers within the multiplex assay. The horizontal line represents the peak detection threshold. X-axis: Tm (°C); Y-axis: -dF/dT.



Figure 7. Sexual Assault ('Sex-Plex') HRM Assay

The sexual assault HRM assays contains two biomarkers for the identification of semen (seminal fluid specific SEMG1 and sperm specific PRM2) and one biomarker each for the identification of saliva (HTN3) and vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1). Single source saliva (blue), semen (yellow) and vaginal secretions (green) samples are shown overlaid to indicate relative locations of the biomarkers within the multiplex assay. X-axis: Tm ($^{\circ}$ C); Y-axis: -dF/dT.



Figure 8. Hexaplex HRM Assay

The hexaplex HRM assays contains one biomarker each for the identification of saliva (HTN3), semen (SEMG1), skin (LCE1C), blood (ANK1), vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) and menstrual blood (LEFTY2). Single source saliva (blue), semen (yellow), skin (orange), blood (red), vaginal secretions (green), and menstrual blood (LEFTY2) samples are shown overlaid to indicate relative locations of the biomarkers within the multiplex assay. The horizontal line represents the peak detection threshold. X-axis: Tm (°C); Y-axis: -dF/dT.



Figure 9. Sensitivity of the Blood Biomarkers in the CE 10-plex

The sensitivity of the blood biomarkers in the CE 10-plex was evaluated using a range of input total RNA (0.05ng to 15ng). As can be seen, ALAS2 was detected for all input amounts and ANK1 was detected with as little as 0.25ng. For each input amount, the blood biomarkers on the blue channel are shown. The RFUs and bp size are listed below each biomarker. X-axis: size in base pairs (bp); Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).



Figure 10. Sensitivity of the Blood-Menstrual Blood and Sexual Assault HRM Assays

The sensitivity of the HRM multiplex assays was evaluated using a range of input total RNA (0.05ng to 15ng). Representative melt plots for the blood-menstrual blood HRM assay (blood sample shown, red/left) and sexual assault HRM assay (semen sample shown, yellow/right). The observed Tm values for each of the input levels are listed. Colored shading represents positive detection of the biomarkers. Grey shading indicates no detection. X-axis: Tm (°C); Y-axis: -dF/dT.



Blood donor 1 BD-MB HRM

Semen donor 3 Sexual Assault HRM

Figure 11. Sensitivity of the Hexaplex HRM Assay

The sensitivity of the hexaplex HRM multiplex assay was evaluated using a range of input total RNA (0.05ng to 15ng). Representative melt plots for the saliva (blue, left) and vaginal (green, right) samples are shown. The observed Tm values for each of the input levels are listed. Colored shading represents positive detection of the biomarkers. Grey shading indicates no detection. X-axis: Tm ($^{\circ}$ C); Y-axis: -dF/dT.



Saliva donor 1 Hexaplex HRM

Vaginal donor 2 Hexaplex HRM

Figure 12. RNA Expression Profile for Nasal Secretions (CE)

The RNA expression profile for a nasal secretions sample is shown (CE 12-plex, 15ng total RNA input). STATH is the only body-fluid specific biomarker detected in this sample. Housekeeping genes B2M and 18S-rRNA were also detected. **Note: The 12-plex CE multiplex system was only used in early stages of the project but was used here as it was still used at the time of analysis for this sample. The RFUs and bp size are listed below each biomarker. X-axis: size in base pairs (bp); Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).



Figure 13. Detection of Body Fluid Components in a Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid Sample (CE 10-plex)

An admixed blood-saliva (50µl liquid saliva dried on a 50µl bloodstain) was co-extracted with the AllPrep DNA/Micro kit. The presence of both blood (ANK1, ALAS2) and saliva (STATH and HTN3) were detected using the CE 10-plex. The RFUs and bp size are listed below each biomarker. X-axis: size in base pairs (bp); Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).



Blood-Saliva (50µl)

Figure 14. Detection of Body Fluid Components in an Two-Fluid Admixed Body Fluid Sample (Sexual Assault HRM)

The sexual assault HRM assay contains four biomarkers for the identification of saliva (HTN3), semen (PRM2 and SEMG1) and vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1). The top panel shows melt plots for a saliva, semen and vaginal secretions single source sample to show the location of each biomarker. The bottom panel shows the analysis of a saliva-semen (5 μ l semen added to a dried buccal swab). Saliva (HTN3) and semen (PRM2 and SEMG1) were successfully detected in this mixture sample. X-axis - Tm values (°C); Y-axis represents dF/dT.



Figure 15. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Simulated Vaginal-Semen Mixture (Example 1)

A vaginal secretions-semen admixed sample was prepared by adding 5 μ l of liquid semen to ¹/₄ dried vaginal swabs. The results of the DNA profiling (Identifiler Plus, left), CE 10-plex (right, top) and HRM sexual assault assay (right, bottom) are shown. For CE results, allele number or biomarker and RFU values are provided. X-axis: size in base pairs, Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs). For the HRM assay: X-axis - Tm values (°C), Y-axis: -dF/dT. VS = vaginal secretions, SE = semen.



Figure 16. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Simulated Vaginal-Semen Mixture (Example 2)

A vaginal secretions-semen admixed sample was prepared by adding 5 μ l of liquid semen to ¹/₄ dried vaginal swabs. The results of the DNA profiling (Identifiler Plus, left), CE 10-plex (right, top) and HRM sexual assault assay (right, bottom) are shown. For CE results, allele number or biomarker and RFU values are provided. X-axis: size in base pairs, Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs). For the HRM assay: X-axis - Tm values (°C), Y-axis: -dF/dT. VS = vaginal secretions, SE = semen.



HRM: semen and vaginal

Figure 17. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Differentially Co-Extracted Vaginal-Semen Mixture (Example 1)

A vaginal secretions-semen admixed sample was prepared by adding 25 µl of liquid semen to ¹/₂ of a dried vaginal swab. The sample was then differentially co-extracted (separating non-sperm and sperm fractions prior to DNA and RNA analysis). The CE 10-plex (top panels) was used to determine if semen (PRM2, SEMG1) and vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) could be identified. Semen/sperm (PRM2) was detected in both the F1 (non-sperm) and sperm fractions. Vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) was not detected. The DNA fractions were amplified using Identfiler Plus (bottom panels) and full single source donor profiles were obtained. X-axis: size in base pairs, Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).

F1 (non-sperm)





F1 (non-sperm)





Single source

Single source

Figure 18. DNA and RNA Profiling of a Differentially Co-Extracted Vaginal-Semen <u>Mixture (Example 2)</u>

A vaginal secretions-semen admixed sample was prepared by adding 25 μ l of liquid semen to ½ of a dried vaginal swab. The sample was then differentially co-extracted (separating non-sperm and sperm fractions prior to DNA and RNA analysis). The CE 10-plex (top panels) was used to determine if semen (PRM2, SEMG1) and vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) could be identified. Semen/sperm (PRM2) was detected in both the F1 (non-sperm) and sperm fractions. Vaginal secretions (CYP2B7P1) was detected in the F1 (non-sperm) fraction. The DNA fractions were amplified using Identfiler Plus (bottom panels) and full single source donor profiles were obtained. X-axis: size in base pairs, Y-axis: relative fluorescence units (RFUs).







Single source